SPRINT INTERVAL TRAINING DURING INPATIENT REHABILITATION AFTER SPINAL CORD INJURY

By

JONATHAN C. MCLEOD, BSc

A Thesis

Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

for the Degree

Masters of Science

McMaster University, Hamilton, ON

© Copyright by Jonathan C. Mcleod, July 2018

MASTERS OF SCIENCE (2018)McMaster University,(Kinesiology)Hamilton, Ontario

TITLE:Sprint Interval Training During Inpatient Rehabilitation After Spinal CordInjury.

AUTHOR: Jonathan C. Mcleod, B.Science with Honours (McMaster University)

SUPERVISOR: Dr. Audrey L. Hicks

NUMBER OF PAGES: x, 100

Abstract

During inpatient rehabilitation, arm-ergometry training is utilized to improve the physical capacity of patients with a sub-acute spinal cord injury (SCI) to a level that is desirable for performing activities of daily living (ADLs). Previous work has demonstrated that ≥ 20 minutes of moderate-intensity continuous training (MICT) during inpatient rehabilitation, at a frequency of ≥ 3 times per week, is useful for increasing the physical capacity of these patients. However, considering that inpatient rehabilitation is an intensive program, and given the trend towards a shortened length of stay during inpatient rehabilitation, performing MICT on the arm-ergometer can consume a valuable amount of therapy time. Low-volume sprint interval training (SIT) is a time-efficient alternative to MICT for improving indices of physical fitness in healthy and diseased populations. To date, however, there are no published studies comparing SIT to MICT in persons with sub-acute SCI undergoing inpatient rehabilitation.

The purpose of this thesis was to evaluate the efficacy of a five-week, thrice weekly low-volume SIT protocol on the arm-ergometer and compare fitness outcomes to traditional MICT in patients with sub-acute SCI undergoing inpatient rehabilitation. Participants with sub-acute SCI undergoing inpatient rehabilitation were recruited and randomly allocated to the SIT or MICT training group. Both types of training utilized the same 2 min. warm-up and 3 min. cool-down. SIT consisted of 3 x 20 sec. "all-out" cycle sprints (\geq 100% of peak power output [PO_{peak}]), interspersed with 2 min. of low activerecovery (\approx 10% of PO_{peak}; total time commitment, 10 mins). MICT involved 20 min. of arm cycling (45 – 60% of PO_{peak}; total time commitment, 25 mins). SIT elicited a higher relative

iii

heart rate response, and ratings of perceived exertion than MICT. Following training, we found similar improvements in maximal and sub-maximal physical capacity across groups. Both exercise modes were equally well tolerated, and enjoyable, and there were no differences in self-efficacy across groups.

The significance of this work is that it is the first randomized-controlled trial comparing SIT to MICT on the arm-ergometer in individuals with sub-acute SCI undergoing inpatient rehabilitation. The fact that SIT is palatable and can promote similar increases in physical capacity as MICT, despite less than half the time commitment and training volume, means that clinical rehabilitation specialists can now offer a new, more time-efficient, exercise training strategy to elicit improvements in their patients.

Acknowledgments

I am very appreciative of everyone at McMaster and Hamilton Health Sciences who has helped me with the completion of my MSc degree. I would like to especially thank my supervisor and mentor, Dr. Audrey Hicks, for her guidance and support over the past three years.

I would also like to give special thanks Diana Herrington, Michelle Read, Suzanne Anthony, Rebecca Fleck, and the remainder of the inpatient rehabilitation team at the Regional Rehabilitation Centre for helping out with the study. Thanks as always to my family and friends for their support throughout my MSc. I would like to thank exercise trainers, undergraduate volunteers, and placement students that helped with the data collection process.

Lastly, I would like to give a big thank you to the participants in this study for coming into the gym everyday ready to give it their all throughout training sessions and performance testing. None of this could have been done without you!

Dedication

I would like to dedicate this thesis to Giovanni Sturino. Riposa in Pace, Nonno.

Table of Contents

Abstract	iii
Acknowledgements	V
Dedication	vi
List of Appendices	ix
List of Abbreviations	Х

Chapter I: Literature Review

1.1	Spinal	Cord Injury (SCI)	
	1.1.1	Incidence, Etiology, Demographics, and Pathophysiology	1
	1.1.2	Defining SCI	2
	1.1.3	Medical and Health Consequences of SCI	4
1.2	Rehabi	litation of Individuals with Sub-Acute SCI	
	1.2.1	Primary Goals and Treatment Phases Following Traumatic SCI	5
	1.2.2	Inpatient Rehabilitation: Overview	7
	1.2.3	Inpatient Rehabilitation: Length of Stay	8
	1.2.3	Inpatient Rehabilitation: Physical Therapy	9
1.3	Exercise in Individuals with SCI		
	1.3.1	Acute Physiological Responses to Exercise Stress	10
	1.3.2	Endurance Training: Arm Ergometry	13
	1.3.3	Risks of Exercise when Performed by Individuals with SCI	15
1.4	Sprint I	Interval Training (SIT)	
	1.4.1	Terminology	17
	1.4.2	Physiological Adaptations: Evidence from Healthy Populations	18
	1.4.3	Cardiovascular Safety of Performing SIT	20
	1.4.4	Considerations for Application of SIT in Individuals with SCI	21
1.5	Summa	ary and Statement of Purpose	23
1.6	Referer	nces	24

Chapter II: Sprint Interval Training During Inpatient Rehabilitation After Spinal Cord Injury: A Randomized Controlled Trial

2.1	Abstra	act	31
2.2	Introduction		
2.3	3 Methods		
	2.3.1	Participants	36
	2.3.2	Experimental Design	36
	2.3.3	Training Intervention	37
	2.3.4	Graded Maximal Workload Test	38
	2.3.5	Discontinuous Sub-Maximal Arm Ergometry Test	39
	2.3.6	Exercise Satisfaction	39

	2.3.7	Self-Efficacy Pain	39 30
	2.3.8	Statistics	40
2.4	Result	S	
	2.4.1	Baseline Characteristics, Program Adherence, and Adverse Events	40
	2.4.2	Exercise Workload	41
	2.4.3	Heart Rate and Rating of Perceived Exertion	41
	2.4.4	Graded Maximal Workload Test	42
	2.4.5	Discontinuous Sub-Maximal Arm Ergometry Test	43
	2.4.6	Exercise satisfaction, self-efficacy, and perceived pain	43
	questio	onnaires	
2.5	2.5 Discussion		
	2.5.1	Program Adherence and Adverse Events	44
	2.5.2	Exercise Responses to SIT and MICT	45
	2.5.3	Maximal and Sub-Maximal Exercise Performance	46
	2.5.4	Palatability of Exercise Interventions	47
2.6	Study	Limitations	48
2.7	Conclu	ision	49
2.8	References		50
2.9	Tables		54
2.10	Titles and Legends to Figures		57
2.11	Figure	S	58

List of Appendices

Appendix A. Participant Information Letter and Consent Form	64
Appendix B. ANOVA Tables	69
Appendix C. Raw Data	75

List of Abbreviations

AD – Autonomic dysreflexia ADLs – Activities of daily living AMPK - AMP-activated protein kinase ASIA – American spinal injury association CAD – coronary artery disease CAMKII – Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II CNS – Central nervous system CV - Cardiovascular disease ESES – Exercise self-efficacy scale HIIT – High-intensity interval training HR – Heart rate HR_{peak} – Peak heart rate LOS – Length of stay MAPK - Mitogen-activated protein kinase MICT - Moderate-intensity continuous training OH - Orthostatic hypotension PACES – physical activity enjoyment scale PAG – physical activity guidelines PGC-1 α – peroxisome-proliferator activated receptor γ co-activator PO_{peak} – Peak power output PNS – Parasympathetic nervous system Q - Cardiac output QoL – Quality of life RCT – randomized controlled trial RPE – ratings of perceived exertion SCI – Spinal cord injury SIT – Sprint interval training SNS – Sympathetic nervous system SV – Stroke volume TSI – Time since injury VO_{2peak} – peak oxygen uptake

Chapter I: Literature Review

1.1 Spinal Cord Injury

1.1.1 Incidence, Etiology, Demographics, and Pathophysiology

The spinal cord is a component of the central nervous system (CNS) that acts as a bidirectional neural conduit for communication and integration between the brain and its motor, sensory and autonomic targets throughout the body. Spinal Cord Injury (SCI) results in a loss of motor, sensory and/or autonomic function below the level of the lesion^{1,2}. There are currently an estimated 86,000 Canadians living with a SCI, an impairment occurring at a rate of approximately 600 per year ¹. SCI most commonly results from a traumatic event, such as motor vehicle accidents or falls and occurs most commonly in Caucasian, middle-aged men ^{1,2}. Subsequently, these individuals experience a host of unique physical, and psychological changes throughout their lives including, but not limited to, impaired ability to perform activities of daily living (ADLs) and reduced independence.

Traumatic SCI is divided into primary and secondary injury phases. The primary injury phase is defined by the immediate physical traumatic event to the spinal cord, which can be classified as ether penetrating (e.g., knife wounds) or blunt (e.g., accidents) injuries. A cascade of biochemical, intracellular, and physiological insults to the neuraxis describes the secondary injury phase ³. The secondary injury phase can be further subdivided into immediate (time since injury [TSI]: seconds), early acute (TSI: minutes to hours) and sub acute (TSI: days to weeks) phases ⁴. Immediately following primary damage, disruption of the vasculature results in acute hemorrhage and central nervous system ischemia ^{3,4}. Over days and weeks following primary damage, the failure for

neurons in the spinal cord to reuptake glutamate (glutamate excitotoxicity) and the introduction of numerous cytotoxic by-products (e.g., pro-inflammatory cytokines, vasoactive compounds, reactive oxygen species) into the local microenvironment initiates a cascade of pro-apoptotic signals and cell death ^{3,4}.

1.1.2 Defining SCI

If trauma to the spinal cord always occurred in the same anatomical location and resulted in the same physiological transection, classification of SCI would be quite simple. However, as the primary mechanism for a traumatic SCI is hyperextension, flexionrotation, and/or compression, the spinal cord is rarely severed and remains anatomically intact ⁵. As a result, more than half of the survivors of traumatic SCI will experience varying degrees of motor, sensory, and autonomic impairment, making the classification of individuals with SCI challenging, yet important. In order to accurately classify and examine individuals with SCI, the degree of impairment is dependent upon both (1) the level of the injury and (2) the severity of the lesion.⁵

Individuals with SCI are described as presenting lesions affecting sensorimotor function of all the limbs or the lower extremities alone. Tetraplegia is defined as lesions that occur in the cervical segments of the spinal cord and manifests as an impairment or loss of sensorimotor function in the arms, trunk, legs and pelvic organs ⁵. Paraplegia is defined as injuries that occur in the thoracic, lumbar, or sacral segments of the spinal cord. Individuals with paraplegia demonstrate spared arm functioning, and depending on the level of injury, limitations in the trunk, and/or pelvic organ regions may be involved ⁵.

McMaster - Kinesiology

About two decades ago, the Committee of American Spinal Injury Association (ASIA) developed uniform standards to assist with accurate and consistent classification of individuals with SCI. This standard allowed individuals with SCI to be systematically examined and classified according to the amount of sensorimotor function sparred below the level of the lesion. According to ASIA, the severity of a SCI can be classified into one of five categories (A-E), with each category representing a unique amount of sensory and/or motor function preserved caudal to the level of the injury. ASIA level A represents a complete SCI, where there is no sensory or motor function preserved in the sacral segments $S4 - S5^{5}$. It is important to note that some individuals with a 'complete' SCI may still have preserved motor and/or sensory function between the level of the injury; this is referred to as the zone of partial preservation ⁵. Level B is defined as an incomplete SCI in which there is only sensory function preserved below the neurological level and in S4-S5⁵. Level C and D are also described as incomplete injuries and there is preservation of some motor function below the level of the injury ⁵. For level C injuries, more than half of the significant muscles (below the injury level) have a muscle grade point less than 3 (0= total paralysis, 5= normal muscle strength), whereas individuals with level D injuries have a muscle grade point greater than or equal to 3 in at least half of the significant muscles⁵. Lastly, level E represents an individual with normal sensory and motor function.

1.1.3 Medical and Health Consequences of SCI

Loss of sensorimotor and autonomic function below the level of the injury results in prominent health-related consequences. In particular, when reduced mortality rates ^{6,7} are coupled with extreme sedentary lifestyles ⁸ and physical deconditioning ⁹, young persons with chronic SCI experience an accelerated risk for the development of co-morbidities. For example, DeVivo and colleagues ⁶ found that young and middle-aged individuals living with SCI are 23- and 8-times more likely to develop cardiovascular disease (CV) than the age-matched able-bodied population, respectively. Not surprisingly, individuals aging with SCI are at a heightened risk of developing insulin resistance, dyslipidemias, changes in vascular structure and function, and autonomic dysregulation ¹⁰. Deep vein thrombosis, pressure ulcers, urinary tract infections, autonomic dysreflexia (AD), orthostatic hypotension (OH), and neurogenic bowel and bladder are commonly reported secondary complications ¹⁰.

Following a traumatic SCI, individuals become more susceptible to experiencing psychosocial difficulties. Approximately 1 in 5 individuals with SCI will develop depression and anxiety in their lifetime, which is a higher rate compared to the general population ¹¹. Reduced quality of life (QoL), decreased functional status, and the inability to remain autonomous and perform ADLs throughout the community are commonly reported in this population ¹². Socioeconomic status declines rapidly following injury, and this can be attributed to the financial burden of living with a SCI. For example, the cost of living for an individual with incomplete paraplegia following the first year of injury is estimated to be \$270,900, with each subsequent year costing upwards to \$27,000¹³. The

costs of living with a SCI tend to be the most expensive for individuals with higher-level complete lesions ¹³.

1.2 Rehabilitation of SCI

1.2.1 Primary Goals and Treatment Phases Following SCI

Prior to WWII, life expectancy following SCI was extremely poor¹⁴. Over the past several decades, advancements in medical care and the acute management of SCI have dramatically improved life expectancy to resemble that of the able-bodied population ⁷. Despite improvements in life expectancy, and progressions in our understanding of the pathophysiology involved with SCI, there still remains to be an effective therapy in completely restoring sensorimotor function below the level of the injury. Spontaneous recovery of sensorimotor function following traumatic SCI has been documented, however, the degree of recovery is extremely variable, and highly dependent upon the level and the completeness of the injury. As a result, a vast majority of individuals sustaining initial trauma to the spinal cord will experience a host of debilitating physiological, functional, and psychosocial disabilities for the remainder of their lives. The combined effect of secondary complications with what is typically an extremely sedentary lifestyle ¹⁵ leads to physical deconditioning and reduced physical capacity of persons with SCI. Individuals with SCI appear to have difficulty coping with the physical strain of ADLs, and give low ratings of QoL^{15,16}. With all of this in mind, the primary purpose of rehabilitation following SCI has shifted considerably over the past five

decades, from extension of lifespan to enhancement of functional recovery, management of secondary complications, and augmenting physical capacity.

The rehabilitation process of SCI is long, expensive, exhausting (for the patient) and requires a multidisciplinary approach. Each rehabilitation program is unique and tailored to meet the patient's abilities and needs, however, the structure and primary goals of treatment phases following SCI tend to remain relatively constant across patients. The rehabilitation of individuals with SCI can be divided into two-phases: acute (TSI, 0 - 4 weeks), and sub-acute (TSI, 2 - 26 weeks). Acute rehabilitation begins immediately following primary damage to the spinal cord with admittance to acute hospitalization. Acute hospitalization typically consists of a 2- to 4-week bed rest period, with common interventions including early surgical decompression, systemic steroid therapy, and augmentation of mean arterial pressure ⁴. The primary goal of this rehabilitation phase is to stabilize the patient's neurological symptoms from the secondary damage of the injury.

Upon discharge from acute hospitalization, the patient enters into the sub-acute phase, which consists of inpatient and outpatient rehabilitation. During SCI inpatient rehabilitation, the clinical team works together to augment functional recovery, and prepare the patient for a return to home setting or an independent living environment ¹⁷⁻¹⁹. Patients undergo intensive physical reconditioning and are taught to how to manage and prevent common complications of living with a SCI. The length of stay (LOS) for inpatient rehabilitation can range anywhere between 5- to 15-weeks, and is highly dependent on the level and the completeness of the injury (see next section for more detail) ¹⁹. Thereafter, patients begin to integrate themselves back into the community and

are admitted to outpatient rehabilitation, making frequent clinic visits (\approx 3 times a week until about 52 weeks post-injury) to undergo further physical reconditioning. Although all treatment phases following SCI are extremely important in facilitating recovery and maximizing independence, the following section will provide an in depth discussion of inpatient rehabilitation.

1.2.2 Inpatient Rehabilitation: Overview

Admittance to SCI inpatient rehabilitation immediately following acute hospitalization is extremely important, as a delay in starting rehabilitation may negatively influence the patients' functional recovery ²⁰. As briefly described above, one of the primary goals during sub-acute inpatient rehabilitation is to prepare the patient for a return to home setting and convey to the patient that living with a SCI will be different, but can still be fulfilling. The specialized rehabilitation team is multidisciplinary and each member plays a unique role that is vital for optimal care and recovery following SCI. Due to the unique physiological and psychosocial consequences of suffering from a traumatic SCI, the SCI rehabilitation team is typically composed of physiatrists, physiotherapists, occupational therapists, speech-language therapists, psychologists and social workers ^{18,19}. Once the patient's ASIA grade, level of injury and prognosis for sensorimotor recovery are determined at the onset of rehabilitation, the SCI clinical team can begin to formulate long- and short-term functional goals for the patient that should be met one-year following injury²¹. Functional goals will vary depending upon the level of the lesion, and it is important to note that the outcome may not always be achieved due to factors such as

age, sex and comorbidities ²¹. Coordination of the SCI rehabilitation team with the patient and family members of the patient is extremely important to ensure a timely and safe reintegration back into the community.

1.2.3 Inpatient Rehabilitation: Length of Stay

Over the past five decades, there has been a 65% decrease in the average LOS during SCI inpatient rehabilitation in the United States ²². According to the 2016 annual report from the National Spinal Cord Injury Statistical Center ²², average LOS during SCI clinical rehabilitation in the early 1970's was \approx 98 days (complete tetraplegia: 142 days, incomplete paraplegia: 68 days), whereas the average LOS in 2016 was approximately \approx 35 days (complete tetraplegia: 52 days, incomplete paraplegia: 29 days). There is no literature capturing the trends in decreased LOS during clinical rehabilitation in Canada over the past several decades, however the average LOS across all Canadian SCI inpatient rehabilitation sites in 2012 ranged from \approx 41 to 150 days ²³.

The debilitating disability, health complications, and around-the-clock assistance associated with SCI place a financial burden on the medical-system. Costs associated with the initial hospitalization are substantial, and a major driver of costs is the length of time the injured individual remains in sub-acute rehabilitation prior to community integration ²⁴. Munce and colleagues ²⁴ examined the direct costs of health care utilization from the initial hospitalization to 1 year after discharge among 600 individuals with traumatic SCI living in Ontario. Findings from this population-based study revealed that across all institutional and community settings, the largest cost-driver to the health-care

McMaster - Kinesiology

system for the fiscal years 2003 - 2004, 2004 - 2005 and 2005 - 2006 was inpatient rehabilitation, which was estimated to cost 11-million-, 10-million-, and 13-milliondollars, respectively ²⁴. On a per-patient per-year basis, the average cost for total hospital utilization in 2005 was \$123,674²⁴. In comparison, the mean per-patient per-year costs for patients with cancer is \$39,155²⁵.

Reducing the mean LOS during SCI inpatient rehabilitation could diminish the financial burden placed on the health-care system, however, if rehabilitation costs were to be reduced solely by reducing the LOS, consequences may arise such as increased frequency of developing secondary complications and higher likelihood of re-admission back into a hospital setting following discharge ²³. It is important that clinicians and researchers strive to create innovative SCI rehabilitation programs that are cost-efficient, time-efficient and just as effective as the current standard of practice.

1.2.4 Inpatient Rehabilitation: Physical Therapy

Physical therapy, occupational therapy, speech language pathology, therapeutic recreation, social work/care management and nursing beside education are some of the common therapies offered during SCI clinical rehabilitation ¹⁹. In 2011, Whiteneck and colleagues ¹⁹ published information on the type and amount of therapies offered to individuals with sub-acute SCI undergoing inpatient rehabilitation in the United States. Based on the total hours of treatment throughout sub-acute rehabilitation, physical therapy accounted for 31% of total therapy time, which can be estimated to be 500 minutes of physical therapy for the patient per workweek (100 minutes / day)¹⁹. There is

no published literature on therapy time during Canadian SCI rehabilitation, however, given that one of the primary goals of SCI rehabilitation is to physically condition the patient and increase independence in a broad spectrum of physical skills, we would expect to see a larger proportion of total therapy time being allocated to physical therapy, as is seen in the United States.

According to Natale and colleagues ¹⁸, physical therapy consists of 19-treatment activities such as transfers, wheelchair mobility skills, pre-gait, over ground walking, musculoskeletal treatments and modalities, aquatic exercises, and resistance and aerobic training. Although working towards independent ambulation is one of the most important goals for individuals with low-level SCI, muscular and cardiovascular conditioning of the upper extremities is pertinent for all SCI levels ¹⁸. After SCI, to compensate for the loss of motor control and muscular strength in the lower body, patients must predominately rely on muscles in the upper extremities to perform ADLs. With this in mind, physiotherapists use a variety of equipment to help the patient regain upper extremity muscular strength and conditioning such as weight machines, bands, dumbbells and arm-ergometers ¹⁸.

1.3 Exercise In Individuals With SCI

1.3.1 Acute Physiological Responses to Exercise Stress

The Autonomic Nervous System plays a vital role during physical activity or exercise, in which it is responsible for mediating adjustments to the heart and vasculature in order to meet the metabolic demand (e.g., ATP) of active skeletal muscle mass. Inhibition of the parasympathetic nervous system (PNS), and activation of the sympathetic nervous system

(SNS) contributes to exercise induced increases in heart rate (HR), cardiac contractility (e.g., stroke volume [SV]), and thus, cardiac output ($Q = SV \times HR$)²⁷. Stimulation of epinephrine release from the adrenal medulla, and vasoconstriction in the non-exercising muscles facilitates the redistribution of Q and enhances oxygen- and micronutrient-delivery to the exercising muscles ²⁷.

Compared to the able-bodied population, individuals with SCI experience blunted physiological responses during a bout of arm-ergometry ²⁸⁻³⁰. Altered hemodynamic responses to exercise in individuals with SCI can be attributed to sympathetic denervation, which is a separation of cardiac, vascular, and total SNS control from the brain. As SNS pre-ganglionic neurons exit at various segments along the spinal cord (T1 -L2) ³¹, there is a direct association between the degree of sympathetic denervation and the level and neurological completeness of the lesion (the higher and more severe the injury, the greater the degree of sympathetic denervation) ²⁹⁻³¹. Therefore, during exercise, individuals with tetraplegia have lower HR, SV, and Q than persons with paraplegia.

During exercise, the lack of sympathetic innervation in individuals with SCI causes significant pooling of blood in the lower extremities, which diminishes the increase in venous return and SV according to the Frank-Starling mechanism ³². The capacity for an individual with SCI to compensate for a reduced SV is highly dependent upon the level of the lesion. For example, individuals with a lesion level at or above the 5th thoracic vertebrae ³¹ will have impaired cardiac sympathetic innervation, meaning that reductions in SV cannot be compensated by an increase in HR, resulting in a decreased Q.

On the other hand, individuals with injury levels below the 5th thoracic vertebrae (intact cardiac sympathetic innervation) may experience an exaggerated HR response during exercise, which is thought to be an adaptive response to maintain Q ^{33,34}. This idea is supported by work from Schmid and colleagues ³⁰, in which subjects with paraplegia require a higher HR response to work at the same relative intensity as able-bodied individuals. As the SNS plays a key role in regulating various physiological processes during an acute bout of exercise, sympathetic dysfunction following SCI diminishes the physiological responses to exercise normally achieved in able-bodied individuals ¹⁰.

In addition to a blunted autonomic response to exercise, persons with SCI have lower peak oxygen uptakes (VO_{2peak}) and reduced peak work capacities (e.g., peak power output [PO_{peak}]) than the able-bodied population ¹⁰, and this can be attributed to somatic dysfunction. The Somatic Nervous System is responsible for voluntary control of movements via skeletal muscle, and damage to the spinal cord disrupts efferent motor pathways, resulting in paralysis below the level of the injury. Individuals with cervical lesions display impaired voluntary motor control of upper extremity muscles, limiting the amount of muscle mass available to serve as prime movers during arm-ergometry ^{10,28,29}. Although upper extremity function is spared in individuals with paraplegia, denervation of the abdominal muscles and the intercostal results in a strong restrictive ventilatory impairment during exercise ³⁵. Reduced functional muscle mass and/or denervation of muscles responsible for respiration and stabilization shrinks exercise efficiency and peak exercise capacity. The end result in this population is exercise intolerance, physical deconditioning, and difficulty performing ADLs.

1.3.2 Endurance Training: Arm Ergometry

Persons with a newly acquired SCI can spend up to 4 weeks of bed rest during acute care ³⁶, and the detrimental whole-body effects of such a prolonged bed rest has been documented in healthy individuals ³⁶. Compared to the able-bodied population, the lack of motor control in the lower limbs following SCI can likely exacerbate the negative consequences of an elongated bed-rest period. Exercise training, particularly cardiovascular or aerobic training may mitigate the physiological deterioration that results from sustained immobilization, and improve physical function to a level that is desirable for performing ADLs. Efforts to achieve an optimal level of fitness through chronic aerobic training should ideally start during inpatient rehabilitation.

After SCI, there is insufficient motor control and muscular endurance in the lower extremities to support safe and efficacious voluntary endurance training (e.g., leg ergometry) ¹⁰. However, sparing of upper extremity muscle function in persons with SCI makes it possible to employ upper limb voluntary endurance training such as swimming, wheelchair propulsion, and arm-ergometry; the latter is most commonly found in clinical settings across Canada ²³. The arm-ergometer is portable, inexpensive, and easy to calibrate, which makes the device one of the most favored arm-exercise modalities ³⁸. Compared to wheelchair propulsion training on the treadmill, arm-ergometry training is less strenuous and more tolerable, and individuals are at a lower risk of developing shoulder over-use injuries. In addition, individuals with higher levels of injury (e.g., persons with tetraplegia) who maintain some upper extremity function can participate in

McMaster - Kinesiology

arm-ergometry training, given that their hands can be affixed to the pedal of the ergometer using tensor bandages.

To date, there have been several studies exploring the use of arm-ergometry training as an adjunct to SCI clinical rehabilitation ^{29,35,39,41,42}. For example, Valent and colleagues ³⁹ found that individuals performing arm-ergometry training regularly during inpatient rehabilitation had significantly higher PO_{peak}, VO_{2peak}, upper-body strength, and pulmonary function than individuals not performing arm-ergometry training. It is important to note that this was an observational study where participants subjectively reported the frequency and intensity of training, and there was no controlled training protocol. Nonetheless, this study demonstrated the beneficial effect of regular arm cycling during inpatient rehabilitation.

DeGroot and colleagues ⁴¹ reported significant increases in indices of physical capacity (PO_{peak} , VO_{2peak}) following 8 weeks of either high-intensity (70 – 80% HR reserve) or low-intensity (40 – 50% HR reserve) arm-ergometry training in individuals with paraplegia. However, the study utilized a small sample size (n=6) and included only one participant with tetraplegia. These findings have been replicated in individuals with incomplete tetraplegia undergoing 12 weeks of high-intensity arm cycling ²⁹, although the authors failed to quantify/publish the training intensity. Recently, a case study ⁴² found improvements in VO_{2peak}, PO_{peak}, a timed functional wheeling task, and orthostatic tolerance in a 22 year old with a complete cervical SCI following 10 weeks of an aerobic exercise training circuit (arm-ergometry, sliding motion, wheeling; 5 min each station, 30 min total). Moreover, the participant's exercise tolerance improved in terms of both

exercise duration and intensity. Although all the studies described above are in accordance with the newly developed physical activity guidelines (PAG) for adults with SCI (≥ 20 minutes of moderate-intensity cycling, at a frequency of ≥ 2 times / week)⁴³, the time devoted to training and the total training duration was still quite high. Given the trend towards increasingly shorter LOS for inpatient rehabilitation in both Canada (≈ 41 days)²³, and the United States (≈ 35 days)²², performing arm-ergometry training that follows the PAG recommendations can consume a considerable amount of valuable rehabilitation time.

1.3.3 Risks of Exercise when Performed by Individuals with SCI

The health benefits of performing exercise in the able-bodied population and following SCI are clear, but there are some risks to performing exercise. Individuals with SCI can experience some of the same risks when performing exercise as the able-bodied population ¹⁰. However, due to impaired autonomic regulation and greater reliance on the upper extremities to perform ADLs, individuals with SCI are more likely to experience a negative event when performing exercise. AD, OH, and shoulder over-use injuries are unique to individuals with SCI and commonly reported during and/or following exercise.

AD is characterized by a sudden rise in blood pressure (minimum 20 mmHg) when noxious stimuli are presented acutely below the level of the lesion ³¹. The rise in blood pressure is usually accompanied by other clinical symptoms such as bradycardia, profuse sweating or flushing of the skin, pounding headache, and nausea ³¹. However, in some individuals, AD can occur without any of these symptoms, and this condition is

McMaster - Kinesiology

known as asymptomatic AD. In healthy individuals, sympathetic inhibition normally suppresses the unrestricted autonomic reflex following exposure to noxious stimuli. However, following SCI, supralesional sympathetic inhibition is lost, and as a result, AD occurs ³¹. The level and completeness of the injury are critical factors for the presence of AD. It is understood that AD is three times more likely to occur in complete than incomplete injuries ⁴⁴, and occurs in individuals with high-level SCI above the T6 level ⁴⁵. Bowel and bladder distension before emptying is the most common stimuli for triggering AD ^{31,44,45}. Other noxious stimuli that can trigger AD include venous thromboembolism, bone fracture, sudden temperature change, feverish episodes and exercise ^{45,46}. Ashley and colleagues ⁴⁶ found that individuals with SCI at injury levels above T6 consistently demonstrated a response suggestive of AD (sudden rise in systolic blood pressure, followed by a fall in HR) while performing functional electrical stimulation assisted hydraulic resistance training

Whereas a sudden rise in blood pressure clinically defines AD, OH and postexercise hypotension are characterized by a sudden reduction in blood pressure during an orthostatic challenge (e.g., moving to an upright posture from a supine position), and following a bout of exercise, respectively. After SCI, the interruption of descending sympathetic pathways from the brainstem to the vasculature that would normally cause vasoconstriction and maintain blood pressure is impaired ³¹. The result is blood pooling in the vasculature below the level of the injury, reduced venous return, as well as low arterial blood pressure. Symptoms of hypotension after SCI are no different from the able-bodied population ⁴⁷, and include light-headedness, blurred vision, fatigue, nausea,

and dyspnea. Similar to AD, the severity and level of injury to the descending cardiovascular autonomic pathways is directly associated with the prevalence of hypotension. OH is most common in the sub-acute phase of SCI, occurring in 74% of individuals admitted to inpatient clinical rehabilitation ³⁶. King and colleagues ⁴⁸ found that post-exercise hypotension is more prevalent in persons with SCI than able-bodied subjects during a bout of continuous maximal arm ergometry.

After SCI, there is an extensive reliance on the upper limbs for performing ADLs, which leads to a greater prevalence of shoulder over-use injuries and musculoskeletal pain in this population. As the shoulder joints (and surrounding musculature) are not well suited to perform repetitive tasks, manual wheelchair users are at a greater risk of developing over-use injuries than electric wheelchair users. Special precautions should be taken to prevent over-use injuries for individuals with SCI participating in persistent upper-body exercise.

1.4 Interval Training

1.4.1 Terminology

High-intensity interval training (HIIT) or sprint interval training (SIT) encompasses brief, intermittent bursts of vigorous intensity exercise, interspersed with periods of low-active recovery. There are a wide variety of interval training protocols utilized throughout the literature, where the exercise intensity is defined as a percentage of the maximal physiological response to a graded exercise test (e.g., VO_{2peak}, PO_{peak}, and peak HR [HR_{peak}]). For simplicity, the current review will employ terminology proposed from

Weston and colleagues ⁴⁹ to differentiate HIIT and SIT. HIIT typically involves 'nearmaximal' efforts at 85 – 95% of maximal HR, whereas SIT represents 'all-out' efforts, or at intensities corresponding to $\geq 100\%$ of VO_{2peak}⁴⁹.

There is a growing body of evidence suggesting that SIT induces physiological adaptations comparable to traditional moderate-intensity continuous training (MICT), despite a substantially lower exercise volume (e.g., work per unit time) and time commitment ⁵⁰⁻⁵². In healthy individuals, a commonly studied low-volume SIT model is repeated Wingate Tests, which consist of a 30s 'all out' cycling effort at a supramaximal workload. In one session of low-volume SIT, participants usually perform 4 - 6 work bouts separated with 2 - 4 minutes of active recovery, for a combined total of 2 - 3 minutes of intense exercise.

1.4.2 Physiological Adaptations to SIT: Evidence from Healthy Populations

Traditional MICT has been shown to enhance cardiorespiratory fitness (as measured by VO_{2peak}), which can reduce the risk for developing CV, and all-cause mortality. Studies have demonstrated that SIT can also effectively improve one's cardiorespiratory fitness ⁵⁰⁻⁵². Gillen and colleagues ⁵⁰ had sedentary men complete either a very brief SIT protocol, involving one minute of intense exercise per session, or a traditional MICT (45 minutes per session) protocol for 12 weeks (3 times per week). The authors found similar improvements in VO_{2peak} (\approx 6-mL/kg/min), despite a five-fold lower time commitment and exercise volume in the SIT group. In addition, improvements in VO_{2peak} have been reported (\approx 3.5-mL/kg/min) following just 2- ⁵² or 6-weeks ⁵¹ of low-volume SIT in

healthy young men. These findings are clinically relevant given that a 3.5 mL/kg/min (1metabolic equivalent [MET]) improvement in cardiorespiratory fitness is associated with a 15% and 19% reduction in all-cause mortality and CV ⁵³. It should be noted that, based off a previous report by Collins and colleagues ⁵⁴, 1-MET for persons with SCI should be adjusted to 2.7 mL/kg/min.

Improvements in VO_{2peak} following MICT and HIIT/SIT may be explained by (1) increasing oxygen availability to skeletal muscle (central adaptations) and/or (2) improving the capacity of skeletal muscle to extract and use available oxygen (peripheral adaptations). Central adaptations to exercise training are generally attributed to an increase in Q, due to a greater SV ⁵⁵. A recent meta-analysis ⁵⁶ evaluated the effects of low-volume SIT on VO_{2peak} across 13 studies and concluded that central adaptations to exercise are limited and more equivocal compared with the effects on muscle oxidative capacity. For example, several studies report increases in glycogen buffering capacity, skeletal muscle fuel utilization (e.g., shifting from carbohydrate to fat oxidation), maximal activities of mitochondrial enzymes, and mitochondrial biogenesis following SIT of varying durations ^{50-51,57}, yet improvements in resting SV were only found following 7 weeks ⁵⁸, but not 4 weeks ⁵⁹ of SIT. Collectively, evidence seems to support the notion that improved skeletal muscle oxidative potential following SIT precedes improvements in cardiovascular fitness.

It is noteworthy that low-volume SIT/HIIT results in comparable ⁵⁰⁻⁵² increases in skeletal muscle oxidative potential as MICT, despite reduced time commitments and training volumes. It has been suggested that the differences in exercise intensity across

MICT and SIT can partly explain these adaptations ⁶⁰. Compared to MICT, exercising at greater relative intensities as seen with SIT causes greater cellular stress, and accumulation of metabolites, ions and reactive oxygen species ^{61,62}. This in turn increases the phosphorylation and activity of various kinases such as AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK), Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II (CaMKII), and mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) ^{63,64}. A downstream target of these kinases is peroxisome-proliferator activated receptor γ co-activator (PGC-1 α), which functions as a transcriptional co-activator of several mitochondrial genes, and has emerged as a key regulator of mitochondrial biogenesis and many of the oxidative adaptations to aerobic exercise ⁶¹. Thus, compared to lower intensity exercise (e.g., MICT), higher intensity exercise (e.g., SIT) results in greater messenger RNA expression, protein expression, and nuclear translocation of PGC-1 α ⁶⁴⁻⁶⁶. These signaling events coincide with increases in transcription of several mitochondrial genes ⁶⁶.

1.4.3 Cardiovascular Safety of Performing SIT

Due to the relatively high exercise intensities attained during SIT or HIIT, concern has been raised over the safety of interval training in clinical populations. However, there is growing evidence of the safety of HIIT in various clinical populations (e.g. patients with coronary artery disease ⁶⁷, diastolic dysfunction ⁶⁸, and type II diabetes mellitus ^{68,69}). Rognmo and colleagues ⁷⁰ followed 5000 patients with coronary artery disease undergoing either HIIT or MICT during cardiac rehabilitation. The risk of a cardiovascular event was low after both HIIT and MICT, with 2 non-fatal cardiac arrests

occurring over the course of 50,000 exercise hours in the HIIT group ⁷⁰. In the SCI population, no adverse events were reported SCI following 6- ⁷¹ and 8-weeks ⁷² of HIIT + functional electrical stimulation in persons with chronic injuries. However, the cardiovascular safety of an interval training program involving 'all-out' efforts (e.g., SIT) in various clinical populations such as persons with SCI has yet to be investigated.

1.4.4 Considerations for Application of SIT in Individuals with SCI

Due to cardiac sympathetic denervation with injury levels at or above the 5th thoracic vertebrae ³¹, HR responses will rarely exceed 120bpm during exercise. As a result of this, it can be difficult to gauge exercise intensity in individuals with tetraplegia using HR values, but there is a growing body of literature supporting the utility and efficacy of Borg's Rating of Perceived Exertion (RPE) scores to assess and prescribe exercise intensity in this population ⁷³ According to Goosey-Tolfrey and colleagues ⁷⁴, an RPE of 12/20 corresponds to moderate-intensity exercise, whereas an RPE of 16/20 corresponds to 'vigorous-intensity' exercise.

Special precautions specific to SCI should be considered while implementing high intensity exercise such as SIT. Exercise is considered to be a noxious stimulus capable of evoking an episode of AD, but it is currently unknown whether higher-intensity exercise increases the probability of AD occurring. Another area of concern with SIT in the SCI population is the development of shoulder over-use injuries. Given the quick generation of relatively high forces with SIT, one might predict that this type of training might induce, or exacerbate pre-existing shoulder and/or arm musculature pain. Pain in the

McMaster - Kinesiology

upper extremities during SIT should be closely monitored, as it can negatively impact one's ability to perform ADLs.

Persons with SCI face several environmental and psychosocial barriers to engage in physical activity, and because of this, it is unknown whether this population can adhere to chronic interval training. However, a recent scoping review ⁷⁵ of 1300 participants (consisting of able-bodied, and various clinical populations) concluded that interval training can evoke similar/greater levels of perceived enjoyment than MICT. Astorino and colleagues ⁷⁶ demonstrated that persons with chronic SCI experienced more enjoyment undergoing one session of HIIT and SIT, compared to traditional MICT. The unique structure of low-volume interval training (e.g., brief, intermittent periods of intense exercise, minimal time commitment) can reduce the perception of difficulty, provide a sense of accomplishment following each bout, and thus, increase the feeling of one's pleasure ^{76,77}. High levels of enjoyment with interval training can mean that individuals with SCI are more likely to incorporate and adhere to this form of exercise training.

Epidemiological studies ^{78,79} indicate that vigorous-intensity exercise offers superior cardiovascular benefits than moderate-intensity exercise, however, persons with chronic ⁸ and sub-acute ⁸⁰ SCI generally spend little to no time performing high-intensity physical activity. Moreover, a recent randomized controlled trial ⁷⁹ demonstrated that performing MICT for at least 20 minutes, twice weekly (e.g., adhering to the PAG for persons with SCI) was an insufficient training stimulus to promote clinically meaningful changes in biomarkers of cardiovascular health. The advantage of employing HIIT or SIT

is that it enables deconditioned individuals (e.g. persons with SCI) to perform vigorousintensity exercise by incorporating periods of low-active recovery in between the short bouts of maximal effort. This notion is supported by recent work from Astorino and colleagues ⁸², where one session of SIT or HIIT elicited significantly higher metabolic, cardiovascular, and cardiorespiratory strain than MICT in individuals with chronic SCI. To date, however, there are no well-controlled training studies comparing HIIT or SIT to traditional MICT on the arm-ergometer in individuals with SCI, despite a recent call to action for further research in this field ⁸³.

1.5 Summary and Statement of Purpose

Arm-ergometry training is frequently used during SCI inpatient rehabilitation for improving the physical capacity of patients in preparation for a return-to-home setting. Given the move towards a shortened LOS during SCI clinical rehabilitation, performing traditional MICT on the arm-ergometer can consume a valuable amount of therapy time. Low-volume SIT has been shown to be a time-efficient alternative to MICT for improving indices of physical fitness in both healthy and diseased populations. Little is known regarding the efficacy of SIT in persons with SCI. The purpose of this thesis was to evaluate the efficacy of a five-week, thrice weekly low-volume SIT protocol on the arm-ergometer and compare fitness outcomes to traditional MICT in patients with subacute SCI undergoing inpatient rehabilitation.

1.6 References:

- 1. Noonan VK, Fingas M, Farry A, Baxter D, Singh A, Fehlings MG et al. Incidence and prevalence of spinal cord injury in Canada: a national perspective. Neuroepidemiology 2012;38(4):219-26.
- 2. Kirshblum SC, Groah SL, McKinley WO, Gittler MS, Stiens SA. Spinal cord injury medicine. 1. Etiology, classification, and acute medical management. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2002;83(3 Suppl 1):S50-7, S90-8.
- 3. Tator CH, Fehlings MG. Review of the secondary injury theory of acute spinal cord trauma with emphasis on vascular mechanisms. J Neurosurg 1991;75(1):15-26.
- 4. Hachem LD, Ahuja CS, Fehlings MG. Assessment and management of acute spinal cord injury: From point of injury to rehabilitation. J Spinal Cord Med 2017;40(6):665-75.
- 5. Maynard FM, Jr., Bracken MB, Creasey G, Ditunno JF, Jr., Donovan WH, Ducker TB et al. International Standards for Neurological and Functional Classification of Spinal Cord Injury. American Spinal Injury Association. Spinal Cord 1997;35(5):266-74.
- 6. DeVivo MJ, Black KJ, Stover SL. Causes of death during the first 12 years after spinal cord injury. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 1993;74(3):248-54.
- 7. Savic G, DeVivo MJ, Frankel HL, Jamous MA, Soni BM, Charlifue S. Causes of death after traumatic spinal cord injury-a 70-year British study. Spinal Cord 2017;55(10):891-7.
- 8. Ginis KA, Arbour-Nicitopoulos KP, Latimer AE et al. Leisure time physical activity in a population-based sample of people with spinal cord injury part II: activity types, intensities, and durations. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2010;91(5):729-33.
- 9. Dearwater SR, LaPorte RE, Robertson RJ, Brenes G, Adams LL, Becker D. Activity in the spinal cord-injured patient: an epidemiologic analysis of metabolic parameters. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1986;18(5):541-4.
- 10. Jacobs PL, Nash MS. Exercise recommendations for individuals with spinal cord injury. Sports Med 2004;34(11):727-51.
- 11. Williams R, Murray A. Prevalence of depression after spinal cord injury: a meta-analysis. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2015;96(1):133-40.
- 12. Frontera JE, Mollett P. Aging with Spinal Cord Injury: An Update. Phys Med Rehabil Clin N Am 2017;28(4):821-8.
- 13. Priebe MM, Chiodo AE, Scelza WM, Kirshblum SC, Wuermser LA, Ho CH. Spinal cord injury medicine. 6. Economic and societal issues in spinal cord injury. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2007;88(3 Suppl 1):S84-8.
- 14. Whiteneck GG, Charlifue SW, Frankel HL, Fraser MH, Gardner BP, Gerhart KA et al. Mortality, Morbidity, and Psychosocial Outcomes of Persons Spinal-Cord Injured More Than 20 Years Ago. Paraplegia 1992;30(9):617-30.
- 15. Hjeltnes N, Vokac Z. Circulatory strain in everyday life of paraplegics. Scand J Rehabil Med 1979;11: 67–73.
- 16. Janssen TW, van Oers CAJM, Veeger HEJ, Hollander AP, van der Woude LH. Relationship between physical strain during standardized ADL tasks and physical capacity in men with spinal cord injuries. Paraplegia 1994; 32: 844–59.
- 17. Nas K, Yazmalar L, Sah V, Aydin A, Ones K. Rehabilitation of spinal cord injuries. World J Orthop 2015;6(1):8-16.

- 18. Natale A, Taylor S, LaBarbera J, Bensimon L, McDowell S, Mumma SL et al. SCIRehab Project series: the physical therapy taxonomy. J Spinal Cord Med 2009;32(3):270-82.
- Whiteneck G, Gassaway J, Dijkers M, Backus D, Charlifue S, Chen D et al. The SCIRehab project: treatment time spent in SCI rehabilitation. Inpatient treatment time across disciplines in spinal cord injury rehabilitation. J Spinal Cord Med 2011;34(2):133-48.
- 20. Sumida M, Fujimoto M, Tokuhiro A, Tominaga T, Magara A, Uchida R. Early rehabilitation effect for traumatic spinal cord injury. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2001;82(3):391-5.
- 21. Kirshblum SC, Priebe MM, Ho CH, Scelza WM, Chiodo AE, Wuermser LA. Spinal cord injury medicine. 3. Rehabilitation phase after acute spinal cord injury. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2007;88(3 Suppl 1):S62-70.
- 22. National Spinal Cord Injury Statistical Center. 2016 Annual Report- Public Version. 2016.
- 23. Craven C, Verrier M, Balioussis C et al. Capturing Capacity in Canadian SCI Rehabilitation. Rick Hansen Institute. 2012.
- 24. Munce SE, Wodchis WP, Guilcher SJ, Couris CM, Verrier M, Fung K et al. Direct costs of adult traumatic spinal cord injury in Ontario. Spinal Cord 2013;51(1):64-9.
- 25. Chang S, Long SR, Kutikova L, Finley D, Crown WH, Bennett CL. Estimating the cost of cancer: results on the basis of claims data analyses for cancer patients diagnosed with seven types of cancer during 1999 to 2000. J Clin Oncol. 2004; 22: 3524–3530.
- 26. Sasser AC, Rousculp MD, Birnbaum HG, Oster EF, Lufkin E, Mallet D. Economic burden of osteoporosis, breast cancer, and cardiovascular disease among postmenopausal women in an employed population. Womens Health Issues 2005; 15: 97–108.
- 27. Fisher JP, Young CN, Fadel PJ. Autonomic adjustments to exercise in humans. Compr Physiol 2015;5(2):475-512.
- 28. Van Loan MD, McCluer S, Loftin JM, Boileau RA. Comparison of physiological responses to maximal arm exercise among able-bodied, paraplegics and quadriplegics. Paraplegia 1987;25(5):397-405.
- 29. Hjeltnes N, Wallberg-Henriksson H. Improved work capacity but unchanged peak oxygen uptake during primary rehabilitation in tetraplegic patients. Spinal Cord 1998;36(10):691-8.
- 30. Schmid A, Huonker M, Barturen JM, Stahl F, Schmidt-Trucksass A, Konig D et al. Catecholamines, heart rate, and oxygen uptake during exercise in persons with spinal cord injury. J Appl Physiol (1985) 1998;85(2):635-41.
- 31. Phillips AA, Krassioukov AV. Autonomic Alterations After SCI: Implications for Exercise Performance. Found in The Physiology of Exercise After Spinal Cord Injury Chapter. Springer 2016;13: 243-262
- 32. Barton TJ, Low DA, Thijssen DHJ. Cardiovascular Responses to Exercise in Spinal Cord Injury Found in The Physiology of Exercise After Spinal Cord Injury Chapter 16. Springer 2016;6: 105-120.
- 33. Hopman MT, Oeseburg B, Binkhorst RA. Cardiovascular responses in paraplegic subjects during arm exercise. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol. 1992a;65:73–78.
- 34. Hopman MT, Pistorius M, Kamerbeek IC, Binkhorst RA. Cardiac output in paraplegic

subjects at high exercise intensities. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol. 1993c;66: 531–535

- 35. Sutbeyaz ST, Koseoglu BF, Gokkaya NK. The combined effects of controlled breathing techniques and ventilatory and upper extremity muscle exercise on cardiopulmonary responses in patients with spinal cord injury. Int J Rehabil Res 2005;28(3):273-6.
- 36. Illman A, Stiller K, Williams M. The prevalence of orthostatic hypotension during physiotherapy treatment in patients with an acute spinal cord injury. Spinal Cord 2000;38(12):741-7.
- Saltin B, Blomqvist G, Mitchell JH, Johnson RL, Jr., Wildenthal K, Chapman CB. Response to exercise after bed rest and after training. Circulation 1968;38(5 Suppl):VII1-78.
- 38. Davis GM. Exercise capacity of individuals with paraplegia. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1993;25(4):423-32.
- 39. Valent LJ, Dallmeijer AJ, Houdijk H, Slootman HJ, Post MW, van der Woude LH. Influence of hand cycling on physical capacity in the rehabilitation of persons with a spinal cord injury: a longitudinal cohort study. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2008;89(6):1016-22.
- 40. Bizzarini E, Saccavini M, Lipanje F, Magrin P, Malisan C, Zampa A. Exercise prescription in subjects with spinal cord injuries. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2005;86(6):1170-5.
- 41. de Groot PC, Hjeltnes N, Heijboer AC, Stal W, Birkeland K. Effect of training intensity on physical capacity, lipid profile and insulin sensitivity in early rehabilitation of spinal cord injured individuals. Spinal Cord 2003;41(12):673-9.
- 42. Tawashy AE, Eng JJ, Krassioukov AV, Miller WC, Sproule S. Aerobic exercise during early rehabilitation for cervical spinal cord injury. Phys Ther 2010;90(3):427-37.
- 43. Ginis KA, Hicks AL, Latimer AE, Warburton DE, Bourne C, Ditor DS et al. The development of evidence-informed physical activity guidelines for adults with spinal cord injury. Spinal Cord 2011;49(11):1088-96.
- 44. Curt A, Nitsche B, Rodic B, Schurch B, Dietz V. Assessment of autonomic dysreflexia inpatients with spinal cord injury. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1997;62:473–477.
- 45. Hubli M, Gee CM, Krassioukov AV (2014) Refined assessment of blood pressure instability after spinal cord injury. Am J Hypertens 28:173–181.
- 46. Ashley EA, Laskin JJ, Olenik LM et al Evidence of autonomic dysreflexia during functional electrical stimulation in individuals with spinal cord injuries. Paraplegia. 1993; 31 (9); 593 -605.Int J Sports Med. 2001; 22(1): 2-7.
- 47. Cleophas TJM, Kauw FHW, Bijl C, Meijers J, Stapper G. Effects of beta adrenergic receptor agonists and antagonists in diabetics with symptoms of postural hypotension: a double-blind, placebo-controlled study. Angiology. 1986;137:855–862.
- 48. King ML, Lichtman SW, Pellicone JT, Close RJ, Lisanti P. Exertional hypotension in spinal cord injury. Chest 1994;106(4):1166-71.
- 49. Weston KS, Wisloff U, Coombes JS. High-intensity interval training in patients with lifestyle-induced cardiometabolic disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Sports Med 2014;48(16):1227-34.
- 50. Gillen JB, Martin BJ, MacInnis MJ, Skelly LE, Tarnopolsky MA, Gibala MJ. Twelve
Weeks of Sprint Interval Training Improves Indices of Cardiometabolic Health Similar to Traditional Endurance Training despite a Five-Fold Lower Exercise Volume and Time Commitment. PLoS One 2016;11(4):e0154075.

- 51. Burgomaster KA, Howarth KR, Phillips SM, Rakobowchuk M, Macdonald MJ, McGee SL et al. Similar metabolic adaptations during exercise after low volume sprint interval and traditional endurance training in humans. J Physiol 2008;586(1):151-60.
- 52. Hazell TJ, Macpherson RE, Gravelle BM, Lemon PW. 10 Or 30-S sprint interval training bouts enhance both aerobic and anaerobic performance. Eur J Appl Physiol 2010: 110: 153–160.
- 53. Lee DC, Sui X, Artero EG, Lee IM, Church TS, McAuley PA et al. Long-term effects of changes in cardiorespiratory fitness and body mass index on all-cause and cardiovascular disease mortality in men: the Aerobics Center Longitudinal Study. Circulation 2011;124(23):2483-90.
- 54. Collins EG, Gater D, Kiratli J, Butler J, Hanson K, Langbein WE. Energy cost of physical activities in persons with spinal cord injury. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2010;42(4):691-700.
- 55. Blomqvist CG, Saltin B. Cardiovascular adaptations to physical training. Annu Rev Physiol 1983;45:169-89.
- 56. Sloth M, Sloth D, Overgaard K, Dalgas U. Effects of sprint interval training on VO2max and aerobic exercise performance: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Scand J Med Sci Sports 2013;23(6):e341-52.
- 57. Granata C, Oliveira RS, Little JP, Renner K, Bishop DJ. Mitochondrial adaptations to high-volume exercise training are rapidly reversed after a reduction in training volume in human skeletal muscle. FASEB J 2016;30(10):3413-23.
- 58. Matsuo T, Saotome K, Seino S et al. Effects of a low-volume aerobic-type interval exercise on VO2max and cardiac mass. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2014; 46: 42–50.
- 59. Trilk JL, Singhal A, Bigelman KA, Cureton KJ. Effect of sprint interval training on circulatory function during exercise in sedentary, overweight/obese women. Eur J Appl Physiol. 2011; 111: 1591–1597.
- 60. MacInnis MJ, Gibala MJ. Physiological adaptations to interval training and the role of exercise intensity. J Physiol 2017;595(9):2915-30.
- 61. Hawley JA, Hargreaves M, Joyner MJ, Zierath JR. Integrative biology of exercise. Cell 2014;159(4):738-49.
- 62. van Loon LJ, Greenhaff PL, Constantin-Teodosiu D, Saris WH, Wagenmakers AJ. The effects of increasing exercise intensity on muscle fuel utilization in humans. J Physiol. 2001; 536: 295–304.
- 63. Kristensen DE, Albers PH, Prats C, Baba O, Birk JB, Wojtaszewski JFP. Human muscle fibre type-specific regulation of AMPK and downstream targets by exercise. J Physiol. 2015; 593: 2053–2069.
- 64. Egan B, Zierath JR. Exercise metabolism and the molecular regulation of skeletal muscle adaptation. Cell Metabolism. 2013; 17: 162–184.
- 65. Little JP, Safdar A, Cermak N, Tarnopolsky MA, Gibala MJ. Acute endurance exercise increases the nuclear abundance of PGC-1alpha in trained human skeletal muscle. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 2010;298(4):R912-7.
- 66. Little JP, Safdar A, Wilkin GP, Tarnopolsky MA, Gibala MJ. A practical model of low-

volume high-intensity interval training induces mitochondrial biogenesis in human skeletal muscle: potential mechanisms. J Physiol 2010;588(Pt 6):1011-22.

- 67. Currie KD, Dubberley JB, McKelvie RS, MacDonald MJ. Low-volume, highintensity interval training in patients with CAD. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2013;45(8):1436-42.
- 68. Hollekim-Strand SM, Bjørgaas MR, Albrektsen G, Tjønna AE, Wisløff U, Ingul CB. High-Intensity Interval Exercise Effectively Improves Cardiac Function in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Diastolic Dysfunction: A Randomized Controlled Trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 2014;64(16):1758-60.
- 69. Little JP, Gillen JB, Percival M et al. Low-volume high-intensity interval training reduces hyperglycemia and increases muscle mitochondrial capacity in patients with type 2 diabetes. J Appl Physiol 2011a; 111: 1554–1560.
- 70. Rognmo O, Moholdt T, Bakken H, Hole T, Molstad P, Myhr NE et al. Cardiovascular risk of high- versus moderate-intensity aerobic exercise in coronary heart disease patients. Circulation 2012;126(12):1436-40.
- Hasnan N, Engkasan JP, Husain R, Davis GM. High-Intensity Virtual-reality Arm plus FES-leg Interval Training in Individuals with Spinal Cord Injury. Biomed Tech (Berl) 2013.
- 72. Brurok B, Helgerud J, Karlsen T, Leivseth G, Hoff J. Effect of aerobic high-intensity hybrid training on stroke volume and peak oxygen consumption in men with spinal cord injury. Am J Phys Med Rehabil 2011;90(5):407-14.
- 73. van der Scheer JW, Hutchinson MJ, Paulson T, Martin Ginis KA, Goosey-Tolfrey VL. Reliability and Validity of Subjective Measures of Aerobic Intensity in Adults With Spinal Cord Injury: A Systematic Review. PM R 2018;10(2):194-207.
- 74. Goosey-Tolfrey V, Lenton J, Goddard J, Oldfield V, Tolfrey K, Eston R. Regulating Intensity Using Perceived Exertion in Spinal Cord-Injured Participants. Med Sci Sport Exer 2010;42(3):608-13.
- 75. Stork MJ, Banfield LE, Gibala MJ, Martin Ginis KA. A scoping review of the psychological responses to interval exercise: is interval exercise a viable alternative to traditional exercise? Health Psychol Rev 2017;11(4):324-44.
- 76. Astorino TA, Thum JS. Interval training elicits higher enjoyment versus moderate exercise in persons with spinal cord injury. J Spinal Cord Med 2016:1-8.
- 77. Jung ME, Bourne JE, Little JP. Where does HIT fit? An examination of the affective response to high-intensity intervals in comparison to continuous moderate- and continuous vigorous-intensity exercise in the exercise intensity-affect continuum. PLoS One 2014;9(12):e114541.
- 78. Samitz G, Egger M, Zwahlen M. Domains of physical activity and all-cause mortality: systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of cohort studies. Int J Epidemiol 2011;40(5):1382-400.
- 79. Moholdt T, Wisloff U, Nilsen TI, Slordahl SA. Physical activity and mortality in men and women with coronary heart disease: a prospective population-based cohort study in Norway (the HUNT study). Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil 2008;15(6):639-45.
- 80. Zbogar D, Eng JJ, Noble JW, Miller WC, Krassioukov AV, Verrier MC. Cardiovascular

Stress During Inpatient Spinal Cord Injury Rehabilitation. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2017;98(12):2449-56.

- 81. Totosy de Zepetnek JO, Pelletier CA, Hicks AL, MacDonald MJ. Following the Physical Activity Guidelines for Adults With Spinal Cord Injury for 16 Weeks Does Not Improve Vascular Health: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2015;96(9):1566-75.
- 82. Astorino TA, Thum JS. Within-session responses to high-intensity interval training in spinal cord injury. Disabil Rehabil 2018;40(4):444-9.
- 83. Nightingale TE, Metcalfe RS, Vollaard NB, Bilzon JL. Exercise Guidelines to Promote Cardiometabolic Health in Spinal Cord Injured Humans: Time to Raise the Intensity? Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2017;98(8):1693-704.

Chapter II: Sprint Interval Training During Inpatient Rehabilitation After Spinal Cord Injury: A Randomized Controlled Trial.

This manuscript has been prepared for publication in the journal *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation.*

2.1 Abstract

Objective: To evaluate the efficacy of a five-week sprint interval training (SIT) protocol in individuals with sub-acute spinal cord injury (SCI) on the arm-ergometer.

Design: Randomized controlled trial.

Setting: Inpatient rehabilitation program.

Participants: Individuals with sub-acute SCI (N=20; time since injury, 2 – 26 weeks; age, 46 ± 16 years), with either tetraplegia (n=9; C2 – C7; ASIA, C – D), or paraplegia (n=11; T4 – L4 ASIA, A – D) undergoing inpatient rehabilitation.

Interventions: Participants were randomized to SIT (n=10) or moderate-intensity continuous training ([MICT]; n =10). SIT consisted of 3 x 20 sec. 'all-out' cycle sprints ($\geq 100\%$ of peak power output [PO_{peak}]) interspersed with 2 min of active recovery (10% of PO_{peak}; total time commitment, 10 mins). MICT involved 20 min of cycling (45-60% of PO_{peak}; total time commitment, 25 mins). Heart rate (HR) and Borg's Rating of Perceived Exertion (RPE; 6 – 20) were monitored throughout training sessions.

Main Outcome Measures: Maximal (PO_{peak}) and sub-maximal exercise performance on the arm-ergometer, and exercise for self-efficacy (ESES) were assessed pre- and postintervention. Exercise satisfaction, and pain were assessed at the end of the intervention. **Results:** During training, relative HR (% HR_{peak}) and RPE was higher in the SIT group (MICT: HR, 83.8 \pm 7.2%; RPE, 12 \pm 1; SIT: HR, 104.9 \pm 9.3%; RPE, 16 \pm 1; p <0.001). Following training, PO_{peak} increased by 36 \pm 25%, with no difference between groups (p < 0.001). Relative HR: power output relationship improved similarly in both groups after training (p < 0.001), such that participants could perform higher power outputs for a given submaximal HR. There was no difference in training adherence, ESES, exercise enjoyment, and pain across groups (p > 0.05).

Conclusions: Five weeks of SIT on the arm-ergometer in individuals with a sub-acute SCI improved PO_{peak} , and sub-maximal arm-ergometry performance to the same extent as MICT, despite less than half the time commitment. Both modes of exercise were equally tolerated and enjoyable.

2.2 Introduction

There are currently an estimated 86,000 Canadians living with a spinal cord injury (SCI), an impairment occurring at a rate of 600 per year ¹. SCI is commonly characterized by damage to the somatic and autonomic nervous system, resulting in skeletal muscle paralysis below the level of the lesion ². SCI can result in secondary complications including reduced skeletal muscle mass, neurogenic bowel and bladder, arm/shoulder over-use injuries, and urinary tract infections ^{3,4}. The combined effect of these complications with what is typically an extremely sedentary lifestyle ⁵ leads to physical deconditioning and reduced physical capacity of persons with SCI. Individuals with SCI often have difficulty coping with the physical strain of activities of daily living (ADLs), and give low ratings of quality of life (QoL) ^{5,6}. As a result of these unique complications, the primary goal(s) during SCI rehabilitation are enhancement of functional recovery, management of secondary complications, and augmenting physical capacity.

The rehabilitation process of SCI is long, expensive, exhausting (for the patient), requires a multidisciplinary approach, and consists of two phases (acute and sub-acute). The acute phase of SCI rehabilitation (time since injury [TSI], 0 - 4 weeks) begins immediately following injury with admission to acute clinical care, and consists of a 2 - 4 week bed rest period in order to stabilize symptoms from the initial trauma ⁷. Following this, patients enter the sub-acute phase of their injury (TSI, 2 - 26 weeks) ⁸, and are admitted to inpatient rehabilitation, where the SCI rehabilitation team works together to enhance functional recovery, physically recondition, and prepare the patient for a return to home setting or an independent living environment ⁹. Patients undergo a multitude of

therapies, including occupational therapy, therapeutic recreation, and physical therapy. Physical therapy typically utilizes the greatest proportion of therapy time ⁹, focusing on activities such as: transfers, over-ground walking, musculoskeletal treatments and modalities, aquatic exercises, and resistance and aerobic training ¹⁰. The primary mode for performing aerobic exercise is arm-ergometry, and it has been reported that implementing ≥ 20 minutes of moderate-intensity continuous training (MICT) during SCI inpatient rehabilitation, at a frequency of ≥ 3 times / week, is effective for increasing the physical capacity of these patients ¹¹⁻¹⁴. Considering that SCI clinical rehabilitation is a comprehensive program, and given the trend towards a shortened length of stay during this phase in Canada (≈ 41 days) ¹⁵, performing MICT on the arm-ergometer can consume a considerable amount of valuable rehabilitation time.

Interval training consists of brief, intermittent bursts of vigorous activity, interspersed with periods of low-active recovery ¹⁶, which can be broadly classified into two categories: High-intensity interval training (HIIT) typically involves 'near-maximal' efforts at 85 - 95% of maximal heart rate, whereas sprint interval training (SIT) represents "all-out" efforts, or at intensities corresponding to $\geq 100\%$ of peak oxygen uptake (VO_{2peak})¹⁷. Recent work by Gillen and colleagues ¹⁸ show that 12 weeks of SIT in previously inactive men improved cardiorespiratory fitness and skeletal muscle mitochondrial content to the same extent as MICT, despite a five-fold lower exercise volume and training time commitment. As lack of time is the most commonly cited barrier to physical activity ¹⁹, the minimal training duration and exercise volume of SIT may be desirable for many individuals.

The advantage to employing SIT is that it enables persons with SCI to perform vigorous-intensity exercise by incorporating periods of low-active recovery ²⁰. This notion is supported by recent work from Astorino et al ²¹, where one session of SIT elicited significantly higher metabolic, cardiovascular, and cardiorespiratory strain than MICT in individuals with chronic SCI. To our knowledge, there has been only one study evaluating a SIT protocol on the arm ergometer in persons with SCI ²², where significant improvements in VO_{2peak} and peak power output (PO_{peak}) were seen after the two-week training program. To date, however, there are no randomized controlled trials (RCT) comparing the effects of SIT to MICT in individuals with a sub-acute SCI undergoing clinical rehabilitation.

The primary aim of this study was to investigate the efficacy of a five-week, thrice weekly 10 minute SIT program, and compare outcome measures to a traditional 25 minute MICT program on the arm-ergometer in individuals with sub-acute SCI undergoing inpatient clinical rehabilitation. It was hypothesized that five weeks of SIT and MICT would induce similar changes in maximal and sub-maximal exercise performance, self-efficacy for exercise, and exercise enjoyment, despite large differences in training volume and time commitment. It was also hypothesized that SIT would be well tolerated and elicit higher levels of cardiovascular strain than MICT.

2.3 Methods

2.3.1 Participants

Participants were individuals with SCI undergoing inpatient rehabilitation, aged 18 to 65 years, injury level at C2 or below, in the sub-acute phase of their SCI (TSI, 2 - 26 weeks), and received physician clearance to participate in arm-ergometry training. Data collection and training took place at the Regional Rehabilitation Centre, Hamilton Health Sciences, in Hamilton, Ontario, Canada. All study procedures were approved by the Hamilton Integrated Research Ethics Board, and participants gave written informed consent.

2.3.2 Experimental Design

All training sessions and performance tests were completed on the Monark 881E Rehab Trainer (Patterson Medical Supply, Mississauga, ON, Canada). To enhance exercise efficiency, the arm ergometer was positioned such that axis of the crank arm was horizontally aligned with the participants shoulder and the arms were slightly flexed at the furthest point of reach ³. Participants underwent training sessions and exercise performance tests in the morning, either before or after their routine physical therapy session. Participants were asked to refrain from using the arm-ergometer outside of the training study, however, performing aerobic exercise using other modalities were acceptable (e.g., recumbent stepper - Nu-StepTM). Heart rate (HR) was continuously monitored (Polar T31) and Borg Ratings of Perceived Exertion (RPE - 6-20 categorical scale ²³) for both for central (heart and lungs) and peripheral (arms) components were used to gauge exercise intensity throughout training sessions and exercise performance

tests. Participants were asked to empty their bladder immediately before, and refrain from caffeine and alcohol \geq 12 hours prior to completing training and exercise performance tests. PO_{peak}, sub-maximal exercise performance, and self-efficacy were assessed at baseline (pre-training), and following five weeks of training (post-training). Exercise enjoyment and pain were assessed following the intervention. Following the final training session, participants were given three days rest prior to completing post-testing.

2.3.3 Training Intervention

Following pre-training assessments, participants were randomly allocated to the MICT group or the SIT group. Exercise sessions were offered to participants at a frequency of three times per week, for five weeks. Adherence to the exercise intervention was expressed as a percentage of the number of sessions completed over the maximum number of sessions that could be completed (15 sessions). All exercise sessions began with a 2-minute warm-up and concluded with a 3-minute cool down (\approx 10% peak power output [PO_{peak}]), at a self-selected cadence. The SIT protocol was adopted from Gillen and colleagues ¹⁸, and consisted of: 3 x 20 second "all-out" efforts at \geq 100% of PO_{peak}, or at an RPE approximating to 16 ± 1. Each sprint was interspersed by 120 seconds of active recovery at \approx 10% PO_{peak}. Individuals randomized to the MICT group underwent armergometry training that is in accordance with the Physical Activity Guidelines (PAG) in individuals with SCI ²⁴. Specifically, MICT consisted of 20 minutes of arm cycling at a self-selected cadence at 45 – 60% of PO_{peak}, or at an RPE corresponding to 12 ± 1. Central and peripheral RPE, and HR were recorded at the end of each sprint (SIT group)

or at 5, 10, 15, and 20 minutes of exercise (MICT group). Total training duration for each session (including warm-up and cool-down) was 10 minutes for SIT and 25 minutes for MICT. For participants that could not initially complete the full duration of a training session, training progression involved gradually increasing the duration over the first week of training to meet the desired training session duration (either 25 mins MICT or 10 mins SIT). Thereafter, as soon as trainers noted decreases in RPE during the training, training intensities (e.g., flywheel resistance) were adjusted to maintain the target RPE of 16 for SIT and 12 for MICT.

2.3.4 Graded Maximal Workload Test

Participants underwent a maximal graded exercise test on the arm-ergometer to assess PO_{peak} . Participants first warmed up on the arm-ergometer for 1 minute with no resistance. Thereafter, power output was increased in a ramp-like matter by 10 W/min for persons with paraplegia, and 5 W/min for persons with tetraplegia ²⁵. Participants were asked to maintain a constant, self-selected cadence between 60 – 80 revolutions per minute. Participants continued to pedal until one of the following criteria were met: (i) volitional exhaustion, (ii) they were unable to maintain their self-selected pedaling cadence for 20 consecutive seconds (iii) reported RPE was > 19, or (iv) they demonstrated any symptoms requiring immediate cessation of the test according to ACSM guidelines (increased nervous system symptoms [e.g., blurred vision, dizziness, headache], chest discomfort) ²⁶. PO_{peak} was defined as the highest workload participants could maintain for at least 30 seconds.

2.3.5 Discontinuous Sub-Maximal Arm-Ergometry Test

The Discontinuous University of Toronto Arm Crank Protocol ²⁷ was used to assess the HR/power output relationship at three sub-maximal workloads. Participants performed three 5-minute steady state workloads on the arm-ergometer at power outputs approximating RPE's of 8, 10 and 12 ²⁸. Participants were given a minimum of 2 minutes, and a maximum of 5 minutes of rest in between each workload.

2.3.6 Exercise Satisfaction

Participants completed the Physical Activity Enjoyment Scale (PACES) in order to assess the level of enjoyment with the training intervention they received. The PACES entails 18 bi-polar items (e.g., I enjoy it, I hate it) that is scored on a 1 - 7 likert scale. The PACES is a valid and reliable measure that has been previously used in the SCI population²⁹.

2.3.7 Self-Efficacy

Perceived self-efficacy for exercise was measured using the SCI Exercise Self Efficacy Scale (ESES)³⁰. The SCI ESES consists of 10 questions and instructs respondents to indicate on a four-point likert scale (1 = not true at all, 4 = always true) how confident they are with regards to performing and carrying out regular physical activities and exercises. The SCI ESES contains high internal consistency (chronbach's α = 0.926)³⁰.

2.3.8 Pain

Pain perceptions were measured using the questionnaire created by Pelletier and colleagues ³¹. Using a 7-point scale, participants rated how much shoulder pain, bodily

pain, and physical discomfort they typically experience throughout the day and how much they experienced during arm-ergometry training (1 = none, 7 = extreme pain).

2.3.9 Statistics

Independent *t* tests were performed to determine group differences in baseline characteristics. A three-way mixed ANOVA was used to examine differences in exercise workload, heart rate, RPE, and PO_{peak} across group (SIT vs. MICT), injury level (paraplegia vs. tetraplegia), and time (weeks 1 - 5). For the sub-maximal arm-ergometry test, workload (workloads 1 - 3) was included as a fourth factor in the ANOVA. Tukey's post hoc test was used where appropriate. Effect sizes were determined using partial etasquared (η^2_p) and reported as small, 0.009; medium, 0.058; and large, 0.137³². Mann-Whitney *U*-tests were used to compare results between groups regarding pain, selfefficacy, and exercise enjoyment. Wilcoxon signed-rank tests were used to compare changes in pain, and self-efficacy within each group. Statistical analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics, version 20.0. Significance was set at an alpha level < 0.05. Unless otherwise noted, values are presented as mean± SD.

2.4. Results

2.4.1 Baseline Characteristics, Program Adherence, and Adverse Events

Recruitment and training took place from June 2017 to May 2018 (Fig. 1). Twenty-two participants were randomly allocated to MICT (n=10) or SIT (n=12). Two participants undergoing SIT were unwillingly to continue for reasons unrelated to the intervention.

McMaster - Kinesiology

Twenty participants completed the intervention (MICT n=10, SIT n=10) and were included in the final analyses. There were no differences in participant characteristics between groups (Table 1). The attendance rate was $89.9 \pm 13.0\%$ and $86.0 \pm 12.4\%$ for the MICT and SIT group, respectively (p=0.501). Out of the 132 SIT training sessions conducted, only one adverse event occurred (an episode of post-exercise hypotension [session #, 1; injury level, T10; ASIA, C]).

2.4.2 Exercise Workload

Workloads during the intervals in the SIT group and during the MICT sessions corresponded to $154.0 \pm 55.7\%$ and $64.71 \pm 17.2\%$ of the PO_{peak} achieved during the graded maximal workload test at pre-training, respectively (p<0.001, η^2_p =0.604). There was a group x week interaction effect on average exercise volume (p<0.001, η^2_p =0.433), indicating a significantly higher training volume (over the 5 weeks) in the MICT group. Compared to week 1, both groups were able to complete significantly higher exercise volumes at week 5 (MICT: week 1, 27.7 ± 15.4kJ, week 5: 44.8 ± 19.5kJ; SIT week 1: $10.2 \pm 6.6kJ$; week 5: $15.1 \pm 8.7kJ$). This result is depicted in Figure 2.

2.4.3 Heart Rate and Rating of Perceived Exertion

Six participants were using HR-lowering medication (Table. 1) throughout the intervention and were excluded from the absolute HR analysis (sample size used: n=14, MICT n=7, SIT n=7). Relative HR was expressed as a percentage of peak HR (HR_{peak}) achieved during the maximal graded exercise test at pre-training. Absolute and relative

mean HR was significantly higher for individuals performing SIT (absolute HR: p=0.05, η^2_p =0.330; relative HR: p<0.001; η^2_p =0.646). Absolute HR was 135.7 ± 29.8 bpm for the SIT group and 119.9 ± 17.0 bpm for the MICT group, corresponding to 104.9 ± 9.3 % and 83.8 ± 7.2 % of HR_{peak}, respectively. There was a trend for a group x level of injury interaction (p=0.065, η^2_p =0.301) effect on absolute HR. In subjects with paraplegia, absolute HR was 163.5 ± 12.8 bpm for the SIT group, and 124.7 ± 19.4 bpm for the MICT group. In participants with tetraplegia, absolute HR was 114.9 ± 17.8, and 112.8 ± 13.3 bpm for the SIT and MICT group, respectively. Absolute and relative HR responses are depicted in Figure. 3.

Following each training session, individuals performing SIT reported a significantly higher central and peripheral RPE than those performing MICT. Central RPE was 15.0 ± 1.7 and 11.0 ± 3.0 (p<0.01, η^2_p =0.417), and peripheral RPE was 15.9 ± 1.3 and 12.3 ± 1.7 (p<0.001, η^2_p =0.648), for the SIT and MICT groups, respectively. These results are depicted in Figure 4.

Desired training intensity was maintained within both groups such that there was no group x time interaction for either HR (absolute HR: p=0.435, η^2_p =0.088; relative HR: p=0.723, η^2_p =0.033) or RPE responses (central RPE: p=0.102, η^2_p =0.112; peripheral RPE: p=0.263, η^2_p =0.078).

2.4.4 Graded Maximal Workload Test

PO_{peak} significantly increased after training (p<0.001, η^2_p =0.728), with no difference between groups (p>0.05, η^2_p =0.01). The SIT and MICT groups increased peak power output by $39.4 \pm 29.8\%$, and $33.2 \pm 24.8\%$, respectively. These results are depicted in Figure 5.

2.4.5 Discontinuous Sub-Maximal Arm-Ergometry Test

HR (absolute and relative), and RPE (central and peripheral) responses during the discontinuous three-stage arm ergometry test did not change significantly from pre- to post-training, and there was no effect of injury level. Performance (measured by power output) during the three-stage test significantly improved over time (p<0.001, η^2_p =0.730), with no differences between groups (group x time interaction: p=0.260, η^2_p =0.079). As expected, power output was different between individuals with paraplegia versus tetraplegia (p<0.01, η^2_p =0.352). Arm ergometry performance changes in both groups are presented in Figure. 6 and Table. 2.

2.4.6 Exercise satisfaction, self-efficacy, and perceived pain questionnaires

Results of the questionnaires are presented in Table. 3. There were no group differences in exercise enjoyment, self-efficacy, and perceived pain. There was no significant change in self-efficacy over the course of the training intervention. Compared to perceived typical pain, lower mean scores of perceived arm-bike specific pain in both groups support the conclusion that both modes of exercise were well tolerated (p<0.05).

2.5 Discussion

The major novel finding from this study was that 5 weeks of SIT on the arm-ergometer in individuals with sub-acute SCI undergoing inpatient rehabilitation improved PO_{peak}, and sub-maximal arm-ergometry performance to the same extent as MICT, despite a lower exercise volume and time commitment. The SIT protocol involved a total of one minute of intense intermittent exercise, within a time commitment of 10 minutes per session ¹⁸, whereas MICT consisted of 20 minutes of continuous cycling within a 25 minute total time commitment. In addition, despite SIT eliciting significantly higher cardiovascular (HR) and perceived exertion (RPE) than MICT, both modes of exercise were equally well tolerated and enjoyable.

2.5.1 Program Adherence and Adverse Events

Twenty participants completed the training intervention, and attendance rates for both the SIT (86%) and the MICT (89.9%) group were high. The minimum percentage of exercise sessions attended for determining whether an exercise intervention for persons with SCI is feasible or not remains to be established, however with no significant differences in adherence between groups, we are confident that SIT on the arm-ergometer during SCI inpatient rehabilitation is feasible.

Out of the 132 SIT sessions conducted, only one adverse event (episode of postexercise hypotension) was reported following a participant's first SIT session. It should be noted that, compared to able-bodied individuals, post-exercise hypotension is more likely to occur in persons with SCI during a bout of arm-ergometry, and this can be

attributed to decreased vasomotor control below the level of the lesion³³. Nonetheless, results of the current study suggest that there is no greater risk of hypotension performing SIT vs. MICT on the arm-ergometer.

2.5.2 Exercise Responses to SIT and MICT

Individuals performing SIT demonstrated significantly higher relative HR values than those performing MICT, and these HRs were comparable to those reported following a single session of SIT and MICT on the arm-ergometer in individuals with chronic SCI ²¹. The relative HRs recorded during SIT are considerably higher than those recorded in individuals with chronic SCI undergoing over ground walking with a robotic exoskeleton ³⁴, and in persons with paraplegia performing circuit training ³⁵, suggesting more cardiovascular strain with SIT. A likely explanation for these findings is that at higher relative exercise intensities, more type II motor units can be recruited, leading to higher cardiovascular responses in SIT than MICT ³⁶.

As expected, there was strong evidence of sympathetic dysfunction during training in the subjects with tetraplegia, such that the HR values for the SIT and MICT group were 114.9 ± 17.8 bpm (paraplegia: 163.5 ± 12.8 bpm), and 112.8 ± 13.3 bpm (paraplegia: 124.7 ± 19.4 bpm), respectively. The blunted cardiovascular response in subjects with injuries above the level of the 5th thoracic vertebrae can be attributed to an absence of cardiac sympathetic innervation ³⁷. This sympathetic dysfunction makes it difficult to gauge exercise intensity in persons with tetraplegia using HR values, but there is a growing body of literature supporting the utility and efficacy of RPE scores to assess

exercise intensity in this population ³⁸. Regardless of injury level, we found RPE (peripheral and central) responses to be significantly higher for individuals performing SIT (\approx 16) than MICT (\approx 12). An RPE of 16/20 corresponds to 'vigorous-intensity' exercise ²⁰, which is an exercise intensity that individuals with chronic ⁵ and sub-acute ³⁹ SCI generally spend little to no time performing.

2.5.3 Maximal and Sub-Maximal Exercise Performance

Following five weeks of SIT or MICT, participants significantly improved their PO_{peak} to a similar degree (39% and 33%, respectively). Previous work in the SCI population has found comparable improvements in PO_{peak} following MICT on the arm-ergometer during SCI inpatient rehabilitation, with time commitments ranging from 25 to 90 minutes/session ¹⁰⁻¹³. Clinically meaningful improvement standards with respect to PO_{peak} in individuals with SCI remain to be established, however, the improvements reported in the current study are considerably larger than those reported by Haisma and colleagues ⁴⁰, where individuals receiving clinical rehabilitation with no arm-ergometry training improved PO_{peak} by only 10%.

We also observed improved sub-maximal power output after both modes of training. Power outputs during all three stages of the sub-maximal arm-ergometry test were significantly higher after training, with no significant differences in sub-maximal HR, relative HR, and RPE. These results suggest that participants could perform significantly more work at a given sub-maximal HR (or RPE) after training. Similar findings were reported, albeit in individuals with chronic SCI, following 9 months of

McMaster - Kinesiology

twice-weekly MICT on the arm-ergometer, and resistance training ²⁸. These improvements in sub-maximal capacity should have direct impact on the ability to perform ADLs. An increased power output for a given perceived effort (or HR) will mean that people will be able to perform a greater amount of work before getting fatigued. The fact that low-volume SIT can promote similar increases in physical capacity as higher-volume MICT means that clinical rehabilitation specialists can now offer a new, more time-efficient, exercise training strategy to elicit improvements in their patients.

2.5.4 Palatability of Exercise Interventions

Our data demonstrate that both modes of exercise were highly enjoyable, and there were no significant differences in enjoyment across groups. Stork and colleagues ⁴¹ conducted a scoping review of 1300 participants drawn from the able-bodied, and various clinical populations and concluded exercise enjoyment for HIIT/SIT to be greater and/or comparable to MICT. The unique nature of low-volume interval training (brief, intermittent periods of intense exercise, minimal time commitment) can lead individuals to perceive SIT to be more enjoyable than other forms of exercise ⁴².

Participants reported lower perceptions of pain during MICT or SIT compared to the rest of the day, with no differences across groups, indicating that both modes of training were well tolerated. Following SCI, there is an extensive reliance on the upper limbs for performing ADLs, which leads to a greater prevalence of shoulder over-use injuries and musculoskeletal pain in this population ⁴³. Given the quick generation of relatively high forces with SIT, one might predict that this type of training might pose a

risk to the shoulder and/or arm musculature in people with SCI. The results from the current study refute this, suggesting no specific risk for this type of training.

Subjects in the present study reported relatively high self-efficacy for exercise before training began, and there were no significant changes in self-efficacy following MICT or SIT. These findings have been previously documented for persons with SCI undergoing inpatient rehabilitation ^{44,45}. These results imply that individuals with SCI undergoing rehabilitation are confident about performing physical activity and exercise. This is not entirely surprising, given the relatively short time post injury and limited experience with adapting exercise to accommodate their abilities ³¹. Self-efficacy for exercise may possibly change following discharge from rehabilitation ⁴⁶, when persons with SCI are required to initiate regular exercise on their own.

2.6 Study limitations

As the study was performed in recently injured individuals in a primary rehabilitation setting, the improvements in physical capacity could be attributed to the usual rehabilitation program and natural processes of recovery/adaptations following SCI. Second, the sample size was relatively small and heterogeneous, which did not allow for stratification based on injury level, injury severity or sex, which limits the ability to draw meaningful conclusions regarding the efficacy of SIT in this population. For example, there were not any females randomized to perform SIT in the current study, however, Metcalfe and colleagues ⁴⁷ found similar gains in aerobic capacity in able-bodied males and females following 6 weeks of SIT, suggesting that there are no divergent training

adaptations between sexes with this mode of training. Finally, we did not perform any direct measurements of oxygen uptake or muscle strength, so we are unable to determine whether the improvements in power output were due to changes in aerobic capacity or strength, nor whether there would be differences between the two training regimens in these outcomes.

2.7 Conclusion

This is the first RCT comparing SIT to MICT on the arm-ergometer in individuals with sub-acute SCI undergoing inpatient rehabilitation. Our results demonstrate that five weeks of thrice weekly SIT on the arm-ergometer significantly improved indices of physical capacity to the same extent as MICT, despite a substantially lower exercise volume and time commitment. Both modes of exercise were equally well tolerated and highly enjoyable. Given the shortened times of stay in inpatient rehabilitation, the incorporation of SIT may be a more time efficient strategy to improve physical capacity in this population.

2.8 References

- 1. Noonan VK, Fingas M, Farry A et al. Incidence and prevalence of spinal cord injury in Canada: a national perspective. Neuroepidemiology 2012;38(4):219-26.
- 2. Maynard FM, Jr., Bracken MB, Creasey G et al. International Standards for Neurological and Functional Classification of Spinal Cord Injury. American Spinal Injury Association. Spinal Cord 1997;35(5):266-74.
- 3. Jacobs PL, Nash MS. Exercise recommendations for individuals with spinal cord injury. Sports Med 2004;34(11):727-51.
- 4. Frontera JE, Mollett P. Aging with Spinal Cord Injury: An Update. Phys Med Rehabil Clin N Am 2017;28(4):821-8.
- 5. Ginis KA, Arbour-Nicitopoulos KP, Latimer AE et al. Leisure time physical activity in a population-based sample of people with spinal cord injury part II: activity types, intensities, and durations. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2010;91(5):729-33.
- 5. Hjeltnes N, Vokac Z. Circulatory strain in everyday life of paraplegics. Scand J Rehabil Med 1979;11: 67–73.
- 6. Janssen TW, van Oers CAJM, Veeger HEJ, Hollander AP, van der Woude LH. Relationship between physical strain during standardized ADL tasks and physical capacity in men with spinal cord injuries. Paraplegia 1994; 32: 844–59.
- 7. Illman A, Stiller K, Williams M. The prevalence of orthostatic hypotension during physiotherapy treatment in patients with an acute spinal cord injury. Spinal Cord 2000; 38:741.
- 8. Pelletier CA, Jones G, Latimer-Cheung AE, Warburton DE, Hicks AL. Aerobic capacity, orthostatic tolerance, and exercise perceptions at discharge from inpatient spinal cord injury rehabilitation. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2013;94(10):2013-9.
- 9. Whiteneck G, Gassaway J, Dijkers M et al. The SCIRehab project: treatment time spent in SCI rehabilitation. Inpatient treatment time across disciplines in spinal cord injury rehabilitation. J Spinal Cord Med 2011;34(2):133-48.
- 10. Natale A, Taylor S, LaBarbera J et al. SCIRehab Project series: the physical therapy taxonomy. J Spinal Cord Med 2009;32(3):270-82.
- 11. Bizzarini E, Saccavini M, Lipanje F, Magrin P, Malisan C, Zampa A. Exercise prescription in subjects with spinal cord injuries. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2005;86(6):1170-5.
- 12. de Groot PC, Hjeltnes N, Heijboer AC, Stal W, Birkeland K. Effect of training intensity on physical capacity, lipid profile and insulin sensitivity in early rehabilitation of spinal cord injured individuals. Spinal Cord 2003;41(12):673-9.
- 13. Valent LJ, Dallmeijer AJ, Houdijk H et al. Effects of hand cycle training on physical capacity in individuals with tetraplegia: a clinical trial. Phys Ther 2009;89(10):1051-60.
- 14. Hjeltnes N, Wallberg-Henriksson H. Improved work capacity but unchanged peak oxygen uptake during primary rehabilitation in tetraplegic patients. Spinal Cord 1998;36(10):691-8.

- 15. Craven C, Verrier M, Balioussis C et al. Capturing Capacity in Canadian SCI Rehabilitation. Rick Hansen Institute. 2012.
- 16. Gibala MJ, Little JP, Macdonald MJ, Hawley JA. Physiological adaptations to low-volume, high-intensity interval training in health and disease. J Physiol 2012;590(5):1077-84.
- 17. Weston KS, Wisløff U, Coombes JS. High-intensity interval training in patients with lifestyle-induced cardiometabolic disease: a systematic review and metaanalysis.Br J Sports Med 2014;48(16):1227-34.
- Gillen JB, Martin BJ, MacInnis MJ, Skelly LE, Tarnopolsky MA, Gibala MJ. Twelve Weeks of Sprint Interval Training Improves Indices of Cardiometabolic Health Similar to Traditional Endurance Training despite a Five-Fold Lower Exercise Volume and Time Commitment. PLoS One 2016;11(4):e0154075.
- 19. Trost SG, Owen N, Bauman AE, et al. Correlates of adults' participation in physical activity: review and update. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2002;34:1996–2001.
- 20. Nightingale TE, Metcalfe RS, Vollaard NB, Bilzon JL. Exercise Guidelines to Promote Cardiometabolic Health in Spinal Cord Injured Humans: Time to Raise the Intensity? Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2017;98(8):1693-704.
- 21. Astorino TA, Thum JS. Within-session responses to high-intensity interval training in spinal cord injury. Disabil Rehabil 2018;40(4):444-9.
- 22. Harnish CR, Sabo RT, Daniels JA, Caruso D. The Effects of Two Weeks of Arm Crank Sprint Interval Training in Men with Chronic Spinal Cord Injury. Int J Sports Exerc Med 2017; 3 (3): 59-56.
- 23. Borg GA. Psychophysical bases of perceived exertion. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1982;14 (5): 377–81.
- 24. Ginis KA, Hicks AL, Latimer AE et al. The development of evidence-informed physical activity guidelines for adults with spinal cord injury. Spinal Cord 2011;49(11):1088-96.
- 25. Hol AT, Eng JJ, Miller WC, Sproule S, Krassioukov AV. Reliability and validity of the six-minute arm test for the evaluation of cardiovascular fitness in people with spinal cord injury. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2007;88(4):489-95.
- 26. American College of Sports Medicine. ACSM's Guidelines For Exercise Testing and Prescription. Wolters Kluwer 2013.
- 27. Davis GM. Exercise capacity of individuals with paraplegia. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1993;25(4):423-32.
- 28. Hicks AL, Martin KA, Ditor DS et al. Long-term exercise training in persons with spinal cord injury: effects on strength, arm ergometry performance and psychological well-being. Spinal Cord 2003;41(1):34-43.
- 29. Astorino TA, Thum JS. Interval training elicits higher enjoyment versus moderate exercise in persons with spinal cord injury. J Spinal Cord Med 2016:1-8.
- 30. Kroll T, Kehn M, Ho PS, Groah S. The SCI Exercise Self-Efficacy Scale (ESES): development and psychometric properties. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2007;4:34.
- 31. Pelletier CA, Ditor DS, Latimer-Cheung AE, Warburton DE, Hicks AL. Exercise equipment preferences among adults with spinal cord injury. Spinal Cord 2014;52(12):874-9.

- 32. Cohen J. Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences. New York, NY: Academic Press. 1969.
- 33. King ML, Lichtman SL, Pellicone JT, et al. Exertional hypotension in spinal cord injury. Chest 1994; 106(4): 1166-1171.
- 34. Escalona MJ, Brosseau R, Vermette M et al. Cardiorespiratory demand and rate of perceived exertion during overground walking with a robotic exoskeleton in long-term manual wheelchair users with chronic spinal cord injury: A cross-sectional study. Ann Phys Rehabil Med 2018.
- 35. Nash MS, Jacobs PL, Woods JM, Clark JE, Pray TA, Pumarejo AE. A comparison of 2 circuit exercise training techniques for eliciting matched metabolic responses in persons with paraplegia. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2002;83(2):201-9.
- 36. Sale DG. Influence of exercise and training on motor unit activation. Exerc Sport Sci Rev 1987; 15: 95–151.
- Phillips AA, Krassioukov AV. Autonomic Alterations After SCI: Implications for Exercise Performance. Found in The Physiology of Exercise After Spinal Cord Injury Chapter. Springer 2016;13: 243-262
- van der Scheer JW, Hutchinson MJ, Paulson T, Martin Ginis KA, Goosey-Tolfrey VL. Reliability and Validity of Subjective Measures of Aerobic Intensity in Adults With Spinal Cord Injury: A Systematic Review. PM R 2018;10(2):194-207.
- Zbogar D, Eng JJ, Noble JW, Miller WC, Krassioukov AV, Verrier MC. Cardiovascular Stress During Inpatient Spinal Cord Injury Rehabilitation. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2017;98(12):2449-56.
- 40. Haisma JA, Bussmann JB, Stam HJ et al. Changes in physical capacity during and after inpatient rehabilitation in subjects with a spinal cord injury. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2006;87(6):741-8.
- 41. Stork MJ, Banfield LE, Gibala MJ, Martin Ginis KA. A scoping review of the psychological responses to interval exercise: is interval exercise a viable alternative to traditional exercise? Health Psychol Rev 2017;11(4):324-44.
- 42. Jung ME, Bourne JE, Little JP. Where does HIT fit? An examination of the affective response to high-intensity intervals in comparison to continuous moderate- and continuous vigorous-intensity exercise in the exercise intensity-affect continuum. PLoS One 2014;9(12):e114541.
- 43. Cratsenberg KA, Deitrick CE, Harrington TK et al. Effectiveness of Exercise Programs for Management of Shoulder Pain in Manual Wheelchair Users With Spinal Cord Injury. J Neurol Phys Ther 2015;39(4):197-203.
- 44. Nooijen CF, Post MW, Spooren AL et al. Exercise self-efficacy and the relation with physical behavior and physical capacity in wheelchair-dependent persons with subacute spinal cord injury. J Neuroeng Rehabil 2015;12:103.
- 45. Nooijen CF, Post MW, Spijkerman DC, Bergen MP, Stam HJ, van den Berg-Emons RJ. Exercise self-efficacy in persons with spinal cord injury: psychometric properties of the Dutch translation of the Exercise Self-Efficacy Scale. J Rehabil Med 2013;45(4):347-50.

- 46. Gassaway J, Jones ML, Sweatman WM, Hong M, Anziano P, DeVault K. Effects of Peer Mentoring on Self-Efficacy and Hospital Readmission After Inpatient Rehabilitation of Individuals With Spinal Cord Injury: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2017;98(8):1526-34 e2.
- 47. Metcalfe RS, Babraj JA, Fawkner SG, et al. Towards the minimal amount of exercise for improving metabolic health: beneficial effects of reduced-exertion high-intensity interval training. Eur J Appl Physiol. 2011;112:2767–75.

2.9 Tables

Parameter		MICT (n= 10)	SIT (n=10)
Age (years)		45 ± 17	47 ± 15
Sex			
	Male	5 (50)	10 (100)
	Female	5 (50)	0 (0)
TSI (days)		56 ± 42	72 ± 68
Lesion level			
	Tetraplegia	5 (50; C2 – C7)	4 (40; C2 – C4)
	Paraplegia	5 (50; T4 – L4)	6 (60; T8 – L2)
ASIA class			
	Α	1 (10)	1 (10)
	В	0 (0)	0 (0)
	С	4 (40)	4 (40)
	D	5 (50)	5 (50)
HR-lowering medication*		3 (30)	3 (30)

Table 1Baseline participant characteristics.

NOTE. Values are mean \pm SD, n (%) or n (%; range). No significant differences across MICT and SIT. Abbreviations: TSI, time since injury; ASIA, American Spinal Injury Association; HR, heart rate. * β -blockers, Ca²⁺ channel blockers etc.

	Central	I RPE #	Peripher	al RPE #	Heart rat	e (bpm) #	Relative (% H	heart rate R _{peak}) [#]	Power (watts) ^{*,#}
	MICT	SIT	MICT	SIT	MICT	SIT	MICT	SIT	MICT	SIT
Pre-Training										
WorkloadI	8.6 ± 2.3	10.0 ± 2.4	8.5 ± 2.2	10.6 ± 1.7	104.9 ± 23.4	97.1 ± 13.2	79.7 ± 8.5	78.9 ± 10.3	11.5 ± 4.9	13.1 ± 12.0
WorkloadII	11.7 ± 2.9	12.0 ± 2.2	11.8 ± 2.5	12.8 ± 1.8	115.4 ± 26.5	105.1 ± 16.9	87.4 ± 8.6	85.0 ± 9.8	22.0 ± 10.0	23.3 ± 17.8
WorkloadIII	13.9 ± 3.2	14.1 ± 2.0	14.6 ± 2.2	15.1 ± 1.3	125.1 ± 27.9	116.5 ± 25.1	94.9 ± 9.4	93.2 ± 8.0	29.6 ± 14.1	32.3 ± 21.8
Post-Training										
WorkloadI	9.1 ± 2.0	9.8 ± 1.4	9.9 ± 1.7	11.1 ± 1.5	106.4 ± 20.4	95.4 ± 16.3	81.5 ± 8.5	77.6 ± 13.3	27.5 ± 11.5	22.7 ± 15.0
WorkloadII	11.6 ± 2.2	11.0 ± 1.7	12.3 ± 1.9	12.2 ± 1.7	114.9 ± 19.4	105.4 ± 18.1	88.1 ± 6.1	85.7 ± 14.4	37.3 ± 13.9	33.9 ± 18.7
WorkloadIII	13.7 ± 1.9	13.3 ± 1.5	14.5 ± 1.7	14.9 ± 1.1	124.9 ± 26.3	115.7 ± 18.6	95.2 ± 7.4	94.3 ± 16.2	44.7 ± 16.8	44.9 ± 22.3

Table 2Changes in submaximal exercise responses during the discontinuous three-
stage arm ergometry test.

NOTE. Values are mean \pm SD. No significant differences in exercise responses across MICT and SIT. * Main effect of time (e.g., pre-training vs. post-training; p< 0.001). # Main effect of workload (e.g., workload I vs. workload II vs. workload III; p<0.001). Relative heart rate, percent (%) of heart rate peak achieved during the graded maximal exercise test at pre-training.

	MICT	SIT
PACES	99.8 ± 16.7	106.5 ± 13.7
ESES (week 1)	36.2 ± 3.2	36.1 ± 3.2
ESES (week 5)	34.7 ± 4.9	35.0 ± 4.8
Δ ESES (week 5 – week 1)	-1.5 ± 2.7	-1.2 ± 6.3
Typical pain	9.4 ± 5.6	10.0 ± 4.4
Arm-bike specific pain*	7.0 ± 3.9	6.9 ± 3.1
Δ pain (arm-bike – typical)	-2.4 ± 4.0	-3.1 ± 5.6

Table 3Group responses to questionnaires.

NOTE. Values are mean \pm SD. No significant differences across MICT and SIT. Abbreviations: PACES, physical activity enjoyment scale; ESES, exercise for self-efficacy scale; Δ , delta. * Main effect of condition (e.g., typical pain vs. arm-bike specific pain; p< 0.05).

2.10 Titles and Legends to Figures

Figure 1. Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials (CONSORT) flow diagram.

Figure 2. Mean exercise volume over five weeks of MICT or SIT. Mean \pm SEM are

shown. There was a significant group x time interaction (p<0.001). * Values are

significantly different across groups. † Values are significantly different from week 1.

Figure 3. Absolute (a) and relative HR (%HR_{peak}) (b) responses during the training

intervention. Responses were assessed across group only (Total; e.g., MICT vs. SIT) and group x injury level (e.g., tetraplegia vs. paraplegia). Mean \pm SEM are shown. * Denotes

a main effect of group ($p \le 0.05$).

Figure 4. Central (a) and peripheral (b) rating of perceived exertion (RPE) responses across MICT and SIT. Mean \pm SEM are shown. For both responses, there was a main effect of group (e.g., MICT vs. SIT; p < 0.01). * Values are significantly different across groups.

Figure 5. Peak power output (watts) during the maximal graded exercise test at pretraining and post-training. Mean \pm SEM are shown. * Denotes a main effect of time (e.g., pre-training vs. post-training ; p < 0.001).

Figure 6. Relative heart rate (HR)/power output relationships during the three-stage discontinuous submaximal arm-ergometry test at pre-training and after 5 weeks (post-training) of MICT (a) or SIT (b). Mean \pm SEM for relative HR and power output are shown. * Denotes a main effect of time (e.g., pre-training vs. post-training; p < 0.001).

2.11 Figures

Figure 1.









Figure. 4



Figure. 5


Figure. 6



Appendix. A Participant Information Letter and Consent Form



Department of Kinesiology Faculty of Science

1280 Main Street West IWC Hamilton, Ontario, Canada L8S 4K1

Phone 905.525.9140 Fax 905.523.6011 http://www.science.mcmaster.ca/kinesiology

Participant Information Letter

Implementation of a 5-week thrice-weekly Sprint Interval Training (SIT) protocol during Inpatient Spinal Cord Injury (SCI) Rehabilitation

You are invited to participate in a research study conducted by:

Student Investigator:	Jonathan Mcleod Graduate Student Department of Kinesiology McMaster University Mcleoi2@mcmaster.ca
Principal Investigator:	Dr. Audrey Hicks Department of Kinesiology McMaster University (905) 525-9140 ext. 24643

What is the purpose of this study?

You are being asked to participate in a study that will be exploring a new form of exercise training for inpatient rehabilitation after spinal cord injury (SCI). Sprint Interval Training (SIT) has received a lot of attention in the past decade as a more time-efficient strategy in comparison to Moderate Intensity Continuous Training (MICT). The purpose of this study is to determine if SIT is a suitable alternative to the usual standard of practice (MICT) during inpatient SCI rehabilitation. The study will determine if SIT results in improvements in arm bike performance and peak power output. Further, the study will determine if SIT is safe, enjoyable and results in improvements in self-efficacy. We anticipate on recruiting 30 participants over the course of 10 months from the Regional Rehabilitation Centre at the Hamilton General Hospital.

What will my responsibilities be if I participate in this study?

After obtaining your consent, you will be asked to complete all baseline measurements before being randomized to either one of two groups (SIT versus current standard practice MICT). You will have a 50:50 chance of being assigned to the SIT or MICT group. The exercise program will consist of three sessions per week, for a total of 5 weeks. All sessions will begin with a 2 minute warm-up and terminate with a 3 minute cool-down of low-intensity arm cycling. If you are in the SIT group, you will engage in three bouts of "all-out" maximal efforts on the arm bike for 20 seconds. Each bout will be followed by 2 minutes of low-intensity arm cycling. If you are in the MICT group, you will engage in 20-minutes of moderate intensity arm cycling. Every session will be supervised and assisted by trained staff and volunteers.

You will be asked to complete two tests of physical fitness before and after the 5week study period. The first test is a peak power test, where you will exercise on the arm bike until you can no longer maintain the pedaling cadence. The resistance against the arm pedals will progressively increase throughout the test. During the test, we will be asking for your rating of perceived exertion. The test will continue until we see you have reached your max or you feel like you cannot go any longer. For the second test, you will be asked to arm cycle for 5-7 mins at three different submaximal workloads. Heart rate will be continuously monitored throughout the test and you will be asked to indicate your rating of perceived exertion.

Following the 5-week training study you will be asked to complete two written questionnaires. The first questionnaire will be used to assess your satisfaction and level of enjoyment with the exercise program you were given. The second questionnaire will assess whether you experience any pain during the exercise you performed over the training period. You will be asked to fill out a third questionnaire at baseline testing and following the 5-weeks. This questionnaire will assess your confidence and intentions on being able to perform physical activities and exercise.

What are the possible risks or discomforts?

There are some physical risks while you complete testing and your exercise program. Testing procedures are similar to those associated with any form of strenuous physical activity. These include fatigue, fainting, abnormal blood pressure, irregular heart rhythm, and in very rare instances, heart attack, stroke or death. Every effort will be made to minimize these potential risks by evaluation of preliminary information relating to your health and fitness and by careful observations during testing. We will be monitoring heart rate, blood pressure (if needed) and signs/symptoms of discomfort. Testing will be terminated immediately if you are experiencing symptoms that are not normal. Your muscles may be tired and sore following your sessions and you may feel fatigued. These symptoms should subside on their own without intervention

What are the possible benefits for me or society?

Regular exercise has been demonstrated to be beneficial for people living with a SCI. You may see improvements in your aerobic fitness and muscular strength, quality of

life and mobility if you participate in regular physical activity. The results from this study will provide important information on whether arm cycle SIT is a feasible alternative to the current standard of practice (MICT) during inpatient SCI rehabilitation.

Will there be any payment or reimbursement if I participate in this study?

As regular exercise is already part of the inpatient rehabilitation regime, there is no payment/reimbursement for participation in this study.

What information will be kept private?

Your personal information will not be shared with anyone, except with your consent. The information obtained by me will be kept in a locked cabinet. Your data will be linked to a number. The list linking your number and name, with any other personal information, will be kept separate from the data in a secure place. If the results are published, no names or identifying information will be released or published without your specific consent to the disclosure.

What if I change my mind about participating in the study?

Your participation in this study is voluntary. If you volunteer to be in this study, you may withdraw at any time, even after signing the consent form or part-way through the study, including during any of the tests or during the five week training period. In cases of withdrawal your data will be destroyed unless you indicate otherwise. The investigator may withdraw you from this research if circumstances arise which warrant doing so or it becomes unsafe for you to continue.

Will I find out about the study results?

All participants will be given the opportunity to contact the student investigator (Jonathan Mcleod) at the end of the study to receive a summary of the study results.

Can I get more information about participating as a study subject?

If you have questions or require more information about the study itself, please contact Jonathan Mcleod by email at mcleoj2@mcmaster.ca or by telephone at (647)-628-1287. The information mentioned above will be discussed and all questions clarified prior to any involvement in the study.

If you have any questions regarding your rights as a research participant, you may contact the Office of the Chair of the Hamilton Integrated Research Ethics Board at 905-521-2100 ext. 42013.

CONSENT

I have read the information presented in the information letter about a study being conducted by Jonathan Mcleod, of McMaster University. I have had the opportunity to ask questions about my involvement in this study, and to receive any additional details I wanted to know about the study. I understand that I may withdraw from the study at any time, if I choose to do so, and I agree to participate in this study. I will be given a signed copy of this form.

Name of Participant

Signature of Participant

Date

Consent form administered and explained in person by:

Name and title

Signature

Date

I would like to receive a summary of the study's results. [Yes] [No]

Please send them to this email address:

It is possible that we may wish to contact you in the future regarding follow-up research to this particular study. Please sign below if this is something you are agreeable to (and please provide your email address)

Name

Email

Signature

Appendix B. ANOVA Tables

Training Logs

2 x 2 x 5 Repeated Measures ANOVA
1 = between factor = group (MICT vs. SIT)
2 = between factor = level of injury (Tetraplegia vs. Paraplegia)
3 = within factor = week (week 1 - week 5)
Bold values represent statistical significance (p < 0.05)

Workloads (% of PO_{peak}):

Tests of Within-Subjects Effects

Effect	df Effect	MS	df Error	MS	F	P-level	η^2_p
		Effect		Error			- 1
3	4	1.66	64	0.87	1.91	0.11	0.10
3x1	4	1.17	64	0.87	1.35	0.26	0.07
3x2	4	1.09	64	0.87	1.26	0.29	0.07
1x2x3	4	0.30	64	0.87	0.35	0.84	0.02

Tests of Between-Subjects Effects

Effect	df Effect	MS	df Error	MS Error	F	P-level	η^2_{p}
		Effect					
1	1	298.60	16	10.106	29.514	0.00	0.60
2	1	34.032	16	10.106	3.368	0.08	0.17
1x2	1	6.694	16	10.106	0.662	0.42	0.04

Average Work (kJ):

Tests of Within-Subjects Effects

Effect	df Effect	MS	df Error	MS	F	P-level	$\eta^2{}_p$
		Effect		Error			
3	2	607.76	38	17.44	34.84	0.00	0.68
3x1	2	213.30	38	17.44	12.22	0.00	0.43
3x2	2	7.31	38	17.44	0.41	0.70	0.02
1x2x3	2	14.20	38	17.44	0.81	0.47	0.04

Effect	df Effect	MS Effect	df Error	MS Error	F	P-level	η^2_p
							ΙP

1	1	16331.30	16	850.72	19.19	0.00	0.54
2	1	1757.88	16	850.72	2.06	0.17	0.11
1x2	1	173.84	16	850.72	0.20	0.65	0.01

Heart Rate (bpm):

Note: N=14 (MICT n=7, SIT n=7)

Tests of Within-Subjects Effects

Effect	df Effect	MS	df Error	MS	F	P-level	η^2_p
		Effect		Error			
3	4	64.57	40	28.63	2.25	0.08	0.18
3x1	4	27.76	40	28.63	0.97	0.44	0.08
3x2	4	22.94	40	28.63	0.80	0.53	0.07
1x2x3	4	66.94	40	28.63	2.33	0.07	0.18

Tests of Between-Subjects Effects

Effect	df Effect	MS Effect	df Error	MS Error	F	P-level	η^2_p
1	1	6885.17	10	1396.22	4.932	0.05	0.33
2	1	15270.41	10	1396.22	10.94	0.00	0.52
1x2	1	6005.91	10	1396.22	4.30	0.06	0.30

Relative Heart Rate (% of HR_{peak}):

Tests of Within-Subjects Effects

Effect	df Effect	MS	df Error	MS	F	P-level	η^2_p
		Effect		Error			• 1
3	4	84.19	60	20.465	4.11	0.00	0.21
3x1	4	10.59	60	20.465	0.52	0.72	0.03
3x2	4	12.76	60	20.465	0.59	0.66	0.03
1x2x3	4	38.54	60	20.465	1.78	0.14	0.11

Effect	df Effect	MS Effect	df Error	MS Error	F	P-level	$\eta^2{}_p$
1	1	9417.64	15	344.47	27.34	0.00	0.65
2	1	83.71	15	344.47	0.243	0.63	0.01
1x2	1	708.02	15	344.47	2.05	0.17	0.12

Peripheral RPE:

Tests of Within-Subjects Effects

Effect	df Effect	MS	df Error	MS	F	P-level	η^2_p
		Effect		Error			- 1
3	4	1.66	64	0.87	1.91	0.11	0.10
3x1	4	1.17	64	0.87	1.34	0.26	0.07
3x2	4	1.09	64	0.87	1.26	0.29	0.07
1x2x3	4	0.30	64	0.87	0.35	0.84	0.02

Tests of Between-Subjects Effects

Effect	df Effect	MS	df Error	MS	F	P-level	η^2_p
		Effect		Error			
1	1	298.60	16	10.10	29.54	0.00	0.64
2	1	34.03	16	10.10	3.36	0.08	0.17
1x2	1	6.69	16	10.10	0.66	0.42	0.04

Central RPE:

Tests of Within-Subjects Effects

Effect	df Effect	MS	df Error	MS	F	P-level	η^2_p
		Effect		Error			• 1
3	4	0.55	64	0.93	0.58	0.67	0.03
3x1	4	1.89	64	0.93	2.02	0.10	0.11
3x2	4	0.62	64	0.93	0.66	0.61	0.04
1x2x3	4	0.35	64	0.93	0.38	0.82	0.02

Effect	df Effect	MS	df Error	MS	F	P-level	η^2_p
		Effect		Error			• 1
1	1	338.93	16	29.63	11.43	0.00	0.41
2	1	50.16	16	29.63	1.69	0.21	0.09
1x2	1	10.27	16	29.63	0.34	0.56	0.02

Outcome Measures:

PO_{peak}:

2 x 2 x 2 Repeated Measures ANOVA

1 = between factor = group (MICT vs. SIT)

2 = between factor = level of injury (Tetraplegia vs. Paraplegia)

3 = within factor = week (Baseline vs. Follow-Up)

Bold values represent statistical significance (p < 0.05)

Tests of Within-Subjects Effects

Effect	df Effect	MS	df Error	MS	F	P-level	η^2_p
		Effect		Error			• 1
3	1	2043.80	16	47.60	42.93	0.00	0.72
3x1	1	49.06	16	47.60	2.02	0.32	0.06
3x2	1	45.97	16	47.60	0.96	0.34	0.05
1x2x3	1	52.27	16	47.60	1.20	0.28	0.07

Tests of Between-Subjects Effects

Effect	df Effect	MS Effect	df Error	MS Error	F	P-level	$\eta^2{}_p$
1	1	160.66	16	806.27	0.19	0.66	0.01
2	1	8925.43	16	806.27	11.1	0.00	0.41
1x2	1	4808.09	16	806.27	5.96	0.02	0.27

Discontinuous Sub-Maximal Arm-Ergometry Test: Central RPE:

2 x 2 x 2 x 3 Repeated Measures ANOVA (Note: Will only display significant ANOVAS)

1 = between factor = group (MICT vs. SIT)

2 = between factor = level of injury (Tetraplegia vs. Paraplegia)

3 = within factor = week (Baseline vs. Follow-Up)

4 = within factor = workload (workload I vs. workload II vs. workload III)

Bold values represent statistical significance (p < 0.05)

Tests of Within-Subjects Effects

Effect	df Effect	MS	df Error	MS	F	P-level	η^2_{p}
		Effect		Error			

4 2 278.92 21 2.79 99.77 0.00 0.86

Discontinuous Sub-Maximal Arm-Ergometry Test: Peripheral RPE:

2 x 2 x 2 x 3 Repeated Measures ANOVA (Note: Will only display significant ANOVAS)

1 = between factor = group (MICT vs. SIT)

2 = between factor = level of injury (Tetraplegia vs. Paraplegia)

3 = within factor = week (Baseline vs. Follow-Up)

4 = within factor = workload (workload I vs. workload II vs. workload III)

Bold values represent statistical significance (p < 0.05)

Tests of Within-Subjects Effects

Effect	df Effect	MS	df Error	MS	F	P-level	η^2_{p}
		Effect		Error			
4	2	310.26	22	2.35	131.99	0.00	0.89

Discontinuous Sub-Maximal Arm-Ergometry Test: Relative HR (% of HR_{peak}):

2 x 2 x 2 x 3 Repeated Measures ANOVA (Note: Will only display significant ANOVAS)

1 = between factor = group (MICT vs. SIT)

2 = between factor = level of injury (Tetraplegia vs. Paraplegia)

3 = within factor = week (Baseline vs. Follow-Up)

4 = within factor = workload (workload I vs. workload II vs. workload III)

Bold values represent statistical significance (p < 0.05)

Tests of Within-Subjects Effects

Effect	df Effect	MS	df Error	MS	F	P-level	η^2_p
		Effect		Error			
4	2	3677.965	22	45.15	81.45	0.00	0.83

Discontinuous Sub-Maximal Arm-Ergometry Test: HR (bpm):

2 x 2 x 2 x 3 Repeated Measures ANOVA (Note: Will only display significant ANOVAS)

1 = between factor = group (MICT vs. SIT)

2 = between factor = level of injury (Tetraplegia vs. Paraplegia)

3 = within factor = week (Baseline vs. Follow-Up)

4 = within factor = workload (workload I vs. workload II vs. workload III) Bold values represent statistical significance (p < 0.05)

Tests of Within-Subjects Effects

Effect	df Effect	MS	df Error	MS	F	P-level	η^2_{p}
		Effect		Error			
4	2	6453.56	18	112.86	57.18	0.00	0.78

Discontinuous Sub-Maximal Arm-Ergometry Test: Power Output (Watts):

2 x 2 x 2 x 3 Repeated Measures ANOVA (Note: Will only display significant ANOVAS)

1 = between factor = group (MICT vs. SIT)

2 = between factor = level of injury (Tetraplegia vs. Paraplegia)

3 = within factor = week (Baseline vs. Follow-Up)

4 = within factor = workload (workload I vs. workload II vs. workload III)

Bold values represent statistical significance (p < 0.05)

Tests of Within-Subjects Effects

Effect	df Effect	MS	df Error	MS	F	P-level	η^2_p
		Effect		Error			• 1
4	2	5642.43	32	31.50	106.66	0.00	0.87
4 x 2	2	410.64	32	31.50	7.76	0.00	0.33
3	2	5054.14	32	31.50	42.88	0.00	0.73

2	1	Effect 6824.28	16	786.12	8.68	0.00	0.35
Effect	df Effect	MS	df Error	MS Error	F	P-level	$\eta^2{}_p$

Appendix C. Raw Data

Training Logs:

Workloads (% of PO_{peak}):

MICT	Week 1	Week 2	Week 3	Week 4	Week 5	Average
S01 (Para)	50.0	83.3	100.0	100.0	100.0	86.7
S05 (Para)	45.5	45.5	54.5	54.5	63.6	52.7
S11 (Para)	28.6	28.6	28.6	28.6	28.6	28.6
S15 (Para)	40.0	60.0	70.0	80.0	80.0	66.0
S17 (Para)	50.0	50.0	66.7	66.7	83.3	63.3
Paraplegia						
MEAN	42.8	53.5	64.0	66.0	71.1	59.5
<u>SD</u>	9.0	20.2	25.9	26.8	27.0	21.2
<u>SE</u>	4.0	9.0	11.6	12.0	12.1	9.5
	12.0	57 1	71.4	57 1	57.1	57.1
S06 (Tetra)	42.9	57.1	/1.4	57.1	57.1	57.1
S0/(1etra)	57.1	85.7	100.0	100.0	100.0	88.6
S18 (Tetra)	33.3	33.3	66./	100.0	100.0	66./
S20 (Tetra)	42.9	/1.4	//.1	94.3	85./	/4.3
S23 (Tetra)	55.6	33.6	60.0	66./	//.8	63.1
l etraplegia		(0, (75.0	92 (04.1	70.0
<u>MEAN</u>	46.4	60.6 10.6	/5.0	83.6	84.1	/0.0
<u>SD</u>	9.9	19.6	15.3	20.3	17.9	12.1
<u>SE</u>	4.4	8.7	6.8	9.1	8.0	5.4
Group Total						
MEAN	44.6	57.1	69.5	74.8	77.6	64.7
<u>SD</u>	9.1	19.1	20.9	24.3	22.7	17.2
<u>SE</u>	2.9	6.0	6.6	7.7	7.2	5.4
<u>SIT</u>						
S02 (Para)	120.0	130.0	130.0	140.0	150.0	134.0
S03 (Para)	116.7	116.7	150.0	166.7	183.3	146.7
S10 (Para)	141.7	166.7	166.7	166.7	166.7	161.7
S12 (Para)	123.1	123.1	123.1	123.1	123.1	123.1
S14 (Para)	118.2	127.3	127.3	136.4	136.4	129.1

S16 (Para)	116.7	133.3	158.3	166.7	166.7	148.3
Paraplegia						
MEAN	122.7	132.9	142.6	149.9	154.4	140.5
<u>SD</u>	9.6	17.6	18.2	19.2	22.2	14.3
<u>SE</u>	3.9	7.2	7.4	7.8	9.1	5.8
S04 (Tetra)	116.7	166.7	216.7	233.3	233.3	193.3
S13 (Tetra)	60.0	60.0	80.0	120.0	120.0	88.0
S19 (Tetra)	100.0	140.0	100.0	140.0	140.0	124.0
S21 (Tetra)	180.0	300.0	313.3	333.3	333.3	292.0
Tetraplegia						
MEAN	114.2	166.7	177.5	206.7	206.7	174.3
<u>SD</u>	49.9	99.8	108.8	97.8	97.8	89.8
<u>SE</u>	25.0	49.9	54.4	48.9	48.9	44.9
Group						
Total						
MEAN	119.3	146.4	156.5	172.6	175.3	154.0
<u>SD</u>	30.0	61.6	66.7	65.2	64.7	55.7
SE	9.5	19.5	21.1	20.6	20.5	17.6

Average Work (kJ):

MICT	Week 1	Week 2	Week 3	Week 4	Week 5	Average
S01 (Para)	31.1	39.8	49.1	54.2	50.7	45.0
S05 (Para)	61.4	54.2	67.4	70.7	82.3	67.2
S11 (Para)	10.5	14.8	16.0	17.3	17.1	15.1
S15 (Para)	32.2	47.0	51.6	60.8	57.0	49.7
S17 (Para)	23.5	23.8	25.6	30.1	31.7	26.9
Paraplegia						
MEAN	31.7	35.9	41.9	46.6	47.8	40.8
<u>SD</u>	18.7	16.3	20.8	22.2	24.9	20.3
<u>SE</u>	8.4	7.3	9.3	9.9	11.1	9.1
S06 (Tetra)	25.5	40.1	46.0	38.1	38.7	37.7
S07 (Tetra)	34.7	43.1	49.0	51.0	55.5	46.7
S18 (Tetra)	3.8	6.6	11.6	16.1	20.3	11.7
S20 (Tetra)	23.2	31.6	36.6	37.9	39.6	33.8
S23 (Tetra)	31.2	42.3	46.0	51.4	54.8	45.1
Tetraplegia						
MEAN	23.7	32.7	37.8	38.9	41.8	35.0
<u>SD</u>	12.0	15.3	15.4	14.4	14.4	14.1
<u>SE</u>	5.4	6.8	6.9	6.4	6.5	6.3
Group						
Total						
<u>MEAN</u>	27.7	34.3	39.9	42.8	44.8	37.9
<u>SD</u>	15.4	15.0	17.4	18.1	19.5	16.7
<u>SE</u>	4.9	4.7	5.5	5.7	6.2	5.3
<u>SIT</u>						
<u>S02 (Para)</u>	12.0	13.0	13.6	14.9	16.6	14.0
<u>S03 (Para)</u>	5.6	6.5	9.2	10.8	11.6	8.7
<u>S10 (Para)</u>	20.8	30.4	32.1	31.7	32.8	29.6
<u>S12 (Para)</u>	18.5	18.8	18.5	19.4	19.6	19.0
S14 (Para)	14.0	16.0	16.9	16.0	17.9	16.2

<u>S16 (Para)</u>	14.1	17.4	20.5	19.2	20.7	18.4
Paraplegia						
MEAN	14.2	17.0	18.5	18.7	19.9	17.6
<u>SD</u>	5.3	7.9	7.8	7.1	7.1	6.9
<u>SE</u>	2.2	3.2	3.2	2.9	2.9	2.8
S04 (Tetra)	7.2	9.8	12.3	13.0	15.4	11.5
S13 (Tetra)	1.2	1.7	2.3	4.1	2.8	2.4
S19 (Tetra)	4.0	4.9	4.0	4.5	4.7	4.4
S21 (Tetra)	5.0	7.7	8.3	8.4	8.7	7.6
<u>Tetraplegia</u>						
MEAN	4.4	6.0	6.7	7.5	7.9	6.5
<u>SD</u>	2.5	3.5	4.5	4.1	5.6	4.0
<u>SE</u>	1.2	1.8	2.2	2.1	2.8	2.0
<u>Group</u>						
Total						
MEAN	10.2	12.6	13.8	14.2	15.1	13.2
<u>SD</u>	6.6	8.4	8.8	8.2	8.7	8.1
SE	2.1	2.7	2.8	2.6	2.8	2.5

Heart Rate (bpm):

Note: Excluded 6 participants for use of HR-Lowering medication throughout intervention.

MICT	Week 1	Week 2	Week 3	Week 4	Week 5	Average
S01 (Para)	120.3	130.0	130.8	135.1	132.5	129.7
S05 (Para)	149.8	144.3	143.5	151.8	159.4	149.8
S11 (Para)	107.4	103.3	107.5	107.1	104.8	106.0
S17 (Para)	111.8	109.7	110.3	120.3	114.6	113.3
Paraplegia						
MEAN	122.3	121.8	123.0	128.6	127.8	124.7
<u>SD</u>	19.1	18.8	17.2	19.2	24.0	19.4
<u>SE</u>	9.5	9.4	8.6	9.6	12.0	9.7
S06 (Tetra)	91.0	93.1	110.3	98.4	99.4	98.4
S07 (Tetra)	115.3	117.0	109.1	124.8	108.8	115.0
S20 (Tetra)	126.4	130.5	127.3	122.1	117.9	124.8
Tetraplegia						
MEAN	110.9	113.5	115.6	115.1	108.7	112.8
<u>SD</u>	18.1	18.9	10.2	14.5	9.3	13.3
<u>SE</u>	10.5	10.9	5.9	8.4	5.3	7.7
<u>Group</u>						
<u>Total</u>						
<u>MEAN</u>	117.4	118.3	119.8	122.8	119.6	119.6
<u>SD</u>	18.1	17.8	14.1	17.5	20.5	17.0
<u>SE</u>	6.9	6.7	5.3	6.6	7.7	6.4

SIT

McMaster - Kinesiology

S12 (Para)	166.9	168.8	167.8	169.2	160.0	166.5
S14 (Para)	176.0	175.8	171.5	170.7	178.3	174.5
S16 (Para)	142.6	148.7	151.0	147.5	157.3	149.4
Paraplegia						
MEAN	161.8	164.4	163.4	162.5	165.2	163.5
SD	17.3	14.1	10.9	13.0	11.4	12.8
SE	10.0	8.1	6.3	7.5	6.6	7.4
S04 (Tetra)	112.4	123.6	113.7	119.7	120.8	118.0
S13 (Tetra)	85.2	84.0	86.6	99.0	97.8	90.5
S19 (Tetra)	119.3	106.0	125.3	114.0	124.0	117.7
S21 (Tetra)	118.6	132.9	135.7	138.0	141.6	133.4
Tetraplegia						
MEAN	108.9	111.6	115.3	117.7	121.1	114.9
SD	16.1	21.5	21.2	16.1	18.0	17.8
SE	8.0	10.8	10.6	8.1	9.0	8.9
<u>Group</u>						
<u>Total</u>						
MEAN	131.6	134.3	135.9	136.9	140.0	135.7
<u>SD</u>	32.1	33.1	30.4	27.6	27.6	29.8
SE	12.1	12.5	11.5	10.4	10.4	11.3

Relative Heart Rate (% of HR_{peak}):

MICT	Week 1	Week 2	Week 3	Week 4	Week 5	Average
S01 (Para)	77.6	83.9	84.4	87.2	85.5	83.7
S05 (Para)	89.2	85.9	85.4	90.4	94.9	89.1
S11 (Para)	84.6	81.3	84.7	84.3	82.5	83.5
S15 (Para)	77.4	81.9	84.4	84.9	84.5	82.6
S17 (Para)	70.8	69.4	69.8	76.1	72.5	71.7
Paraplegia						
MEAN	79.9	80.5	81.7	84.6	84.0	82.1
<u>SD</u>	7.1	6.4	6.7	5.3	8.0	6.4
<u>SE</u>	3.2	2.9	3.0	2.4	3.6	2.8
S06 (Tetra)	88.4	90.4	105.9	95.5	96.5	95.3
S07 (Tetra)	79.5	80.7	84.6	86.1	75.0	81.2
S18 (Tetra)	73.4	75.4	75.4	71.9	84.2	76.1
S20 (Tetra)	91.6	94.6	92.3	88.5	85.4	90.5
Tetraplegia						
MEAN	83.2	85.3	89.6	85.5	85.3	85.8
<u>SD</u>	8.3	8.8	12.9	9.9	8.8	8.7
<u>SE</u>	3.7	3.9	5.8	4.4	3.9	3.9

Group Total

MEAN	81.4	82.6	85.2	85.0	84.6	83.8
<u>SD</u>	7.4	7.5	10.1	7.1	7.8	7.2
<u>SE</u>	2.3	2.4	3.2	2.3	2.5	2.3
SIT						
S02 (Para)	108.6	118.0	115.5	117.1	115.9	115.0
S03 (Para)	124.2	124.4	136.7	132.4	118.2	127.2
S10 (Para)	97.9	91.4	92.9	105.4	99.4	97.4
S12 (Para)	105.6	106.8	106.2	107.1	101.3	105.4
S14 (Para)	103.5	103.4	100.9	100.4	104.9	102.6
S16 (Para)	95.1	99.1	100.7	98.3	104.9	99.6
Paraplegia						
MEAN	105.8	107.2	108.8	110.1	107.4	107.9
SD	10.3	12.2	15.6	12.7	7.8	11.3
SE	4.2	5.0	6.4	5.2	3.2	4.6
S04 (Tetra)	96.1	105.6	97.2	102.3	103.3	100.9
S13 (Tetra)	95.7	94.4	97.3	111.2	109.9	101.7
S19 (Tetra)	99.4	88.3	104.4	95.0	103.3	98.1
S21 (Tetra)	89.9	100.7	102.8	104.6	107.3	101.0
Tetraplegia						
MEAN	95.3	97.3	100.4	103.3	105.9	100.4
SD	4.0	7.5	3.7	6.7	3.2	1.6
<u>SE</u>	2.0	3.8	1.9	3.3	1.6	0.8
<u>Group</u> <u>Total</u>						
MEAN	101.6	103.2	105.4	107.4	106.8	104.9
<u>SD</u>	9.7	11.3	12.6	10.8	6.1	9.3
<u>SE</u>	3.1	3.6	4.0	3.4	1.9	2.9

<u>Central RPE (6 – 20):</u>

MICT	Week 1	Week 2	Week 3	Week 4	Week 5	Average
S01	12.7	12.5	13.0	14.5	12.0	12.9
S05	14.0	12.7	12.7	12.0	12.3	12.7
S06	14.7	13.7	16.3	16.3	14.0	15.0
S07	10.0	11.3	11.3	11.0	9.5	10.6
S11	14.7	14.7	14.0	14.3	15.7	14.7
S15	6.3	6.3	7.0	7.0	7.0	6.7
S17	10.7	10.7	10.0	9.3	9.3	10.0
S18	11.3	11.7	11.7	10.3	12.7	11.5
S20	7.0	6.0	6.0	6.0	6.0	6.2
S23	11.7	9.3	10.0	9.0	9.0	9.8
MEAN	11.3	10.9	11.2	11.0	10.8	11.0
<u>SD</u>	2.9	2.9	3.1	3.3	3.1	3.0
<u>SE</u>	0.9	0.9	1.0	1.1	1.0	0.9
<u>SIT</u>						
S02	14.0	16.0	15.7	17.3	17.0	16.0

<u>SE</u>	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.9	1.0	0.8
<u>SD</u>	1.8	1.9	1.8	2.0	2.2	1.7
<u>MEAN</u>	14.4	14.9	15.2	14.9	15.5	15.0
S21	12.0	14.0	15.0	15.0	15.0	14.2
S19	12.0	13.3	14.5	12.0	14.0	13.2
S16	15.0	13.3	13.0	12.5	13.0	13.4
S14	17.0	17.0	17.0	16.0	16.0	16.6
S13	13.0	12.3	12.0	14.0	11.7	12.6
S12	17.3	17.7	17.7	17.0	17.0	17.3
S10	14.7	13.7	14.3	13.0	16.0	14.3
S04	13.7	14.3	15.3	15.0	16.0	14.9
S03	15.0	17.0	17.0	17.0	19.3	17.1

Peripheral RPE (6 - 20):

MICT	Week 1	Week 2	Week 3	Week 4	Week 5	Average
S01	12.7	12.5	13.0	14.5	14.0	13.3
S05	14.0	12.7	12.7	12.0	12.3	12.7
S06	14.7	13.7	16.3	16.3	14.0	15.0
S07	11.0	12.0	13.0	13.0	10.0	11.8
S11	14.7	14.7	14.0	14.3	15.7	14.7
S15	9.3	9.7	10.0	12.0	10.5	10.3
S17	11.7	12.3	12.0	12.0	11.3	11.9
S18	11.3	12.0	11.7	10.3	12.7	11.6
S20	10.0	10.0	10.7	10.5	10.5	10.3
S23	12.3	10.7	11.0	10.0	10.5	10.9
MEAN	12.2	12.0	12.4	12.5	12.2	12.3
<u>SD</u>	1.9	1.6	1.8	2.0	1.9	1.7
SE	0.6	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.5

<u>SIT</u>						
S02	14.0	16.7	16.0	17.7	17.7	16.4
S03	15.0	17.0	17.0	17.0	19.3	17.1
S04	14.3	14.7	16.0	15.7	16.0	15.3
S10	17.7	16.3	16.3	17.0	17.0	16.9
S12	17.3	17.7	18.0	18.0	18.0	17.8
S13	14.0	14.3	13.0	14.3	12.7	13.7
S14	17.0	17.0	17.0	16.0	16.0	16.6
S16	15.3	14.7	14.7	14.5	15.0	14.8
S19	14.7	16.7	17.5	16.0	16.0	16.2
S21	11.7	15.0	15.0	15.0	15.3	14.4
<u>MEAN</u>	15.1	16.0	16.1	16.1	16.3	15.9
<u>SD</u>	1.8	1.2	1.5	1.3	1.8	1.3
<u>SE</u>	0.6	0.4	0.5	0.4	0.6	0.4

Outcome Measures:

PO_{peak}:

MICT	Baseline	Follow-Up
S01 (Para)	29.6	45.8
S05 (Para)	79.9	91.4
S11 (Para)	40.3	44.4
S15 (Para)	60.8	77.7
S17 (Para)	36.3	47.4
Paranlegia		
MEAN	49.4	61.3
SD	20.7	21.8
SE	9.2	9.7
S06 (Tetra)	43.5	48.3
S07 (Tetra)	45.1	75.7
S18 (Tetra)	14.2	25.0
S20 (Tetra)	33.0	43.3
S23 (Tetra)	69.8	75.5
Tetraplegia		
MEAN	41.1	53.6
SD	20.2	21.9
<u>SE</u>	9.0	9.8
Group		
Total		
MEAN	45.2	57.5
<u>SD</u>	19.8	21.0

<u>SE</u>	6.2	6.6
CIT		
$\frac{511}{502}$	(11	00.7
S02 (Para)	64.1	89.7
S03 (Para)	36.3	53.4
S10 (Para)	88.9	132.4
S12 (Para)	79.1	91.7
S14 (Para)	70.5	87.4
S16 (Para)	86.7	98.6
Paraplegia		
MEAN	70 9	92.2
SD	19.4	25.3
<u>SE</u>	79	10.3
<u>51</u>	1.9	10.5
S04 (Tetra)	37.9	56.8
S13 (Tetra)	10.6	12.1
S19 (Tetra)	25.7	32.6
S21 (Tetra)	18.5	39.6
Tetraplegia		
MEAN	23.2	35.3
<u>SD</u>	11.6	18.5
<u>SE</u>	5.8	9.2
Group		
Total		
MEAN	51.8	69.4
SD	29.4	36.5
SE	9.3	11.5

Discontinuous Sub-Maximal Exercise Test (Central RPE):

	Workload	Workload	Workload	Workload	Workload	Workload
MICT	I_Week 1	I_Week 5	II_Week 1	II_Week 5	III_Week 1	III_Week '
S01 (Para)	12.0	7.5	15.0	11.0	18.0	15.5
S05 (Para)	9.0	10.0	11.0	10.0	13.0	12.0
S11 (Para)	12.5	12.5	15.5	15.5	16.5	15.5
S15 (Para)	6.0	7.0	6.0	10.0	8.0	12.0
S17 (Para)	9.0	9.0	12.0	13.0	14.0	14.0
Paraplegia						
MEAN	9.7	9.2	11.9	11.9	13.9	13.8
<u>SD</u>	2.6	2.2	3.8	2.4	3.8	1.8
<u>SE</u>	1.2	1.0	1.7	1.1	1.7	0.8
S06 (Tetra)	7.0	11.0	13.0	14.5	17.5	17.0
S07 (Tetra)	7.0	10.5	14.0	12.0	16.0	14.0
S18 (Tetra)	6.0	9.5	11.0	12.0	13.0	13.0
S20 (Tetra)	8.0	6.0	9.0	9.0	12.0	12.5
S23 (Tetra)	9.0	8.0	10.5	9.0	11.0	11.0
Tetraplegia						
MEAN	7.4	9.0	11.5	11.3	13.9	13.5
<u>SD</u>	1.1	2.0	2.0	2.3	2.7	2.2
<u>SE</u>	0.5	0.9	0.9	1.0	1.2	1.0
Group Total						
MEAN	8.6	9.1	11.7	11.6	13.9	13.7
<u>SD</u>	2.3	2.0	2.9	2.2	3.2	1.9
<u>SE</u>	0.7	0.6	0.9	0.7	1.0	0.6
	Workload	Workload	Workload	Workload	Workload	Workload
<u>SIT</u>	I_Week 1	I_Week 5	II_Week 1	II_Week 5	III_Week 1	III_Week

S02 (Para)	8.0	9.0	12.0	9.0	16.0	11.5
S03 (Para)	10.0	10.0	13.0	13.0	14.5	14.5
S10 (Para)	13.5	11.0	14.0	11.0	13.0	13.0
S12 (Para)	11.0	8.0	12.0	10.0	15.5	12.0
S14 (Para)	12.5	12.5	13.5	13.5	14.0	14.0
S16 (Para)	7.0	8.0	8.0	9.5	12.0	12.0
Paraplegia						
MEAN	10.3	9.8	12.1	11.0	14.2	12.8
SD	2.5	1.8	2.2	1.9	1.5	1.2
<u>SE</u>	1.0	0.7	0.9	0.8	0.6	0.5
S04 (Tetra)	11.0	11.0	14.0	11.0	16.5	13.5
S13 (Tetra)	10.5	9.0	12.5	9.5	12.5	12.5
S19 (Tetra)	6.0	9.5	8.0	10.0	10.5	13.5
S21 (Tetra)	10.0	10.0	13.0	13.0	16.0	16.5
Tetraplegia						
MEAN	9.4	9.9	11.9	10.9	13.9	14.0
<u>SD</u>	2.3	0.9	2.7	1.5	2.9	1.7
<u>SE</u>	1.1	0.4	1.3	0.8	1.4	0.9
Group						
Total						
MEAN	10.0	9.8	12.0	11.0	14.1	13.3
<u>SD</u>	2.4	1.4	2.2	1.7	2.0	1.5
<u>SE</u>	0.7	0.4	0.7	0.5	0.6	0.5

Discontinuous Sub-Maximal Exercise Test (Peripheral RPE):

	Workload	Workload	Workload	Workload	Workload	Workload
MICT	I_Week 1	I_Week 5	II_Week 1	II_Week 5	III_Week 1	III_Week
S01 (Para)	12.0	7.5	15.0	11.0	18.0	15.5
S05 (Para)	9.0	10.0	11.0	10.0	13.0	12.0
S11 (Para)	12.5	12.5	15.5	15.5	16.5	15.5
S15 (Para)	6.0	8.0	6.5	10.0	11.5	13.0
S17 (Para)	8.5	10.0	12.0	13.0	15.0	15.0
Paraplegia						
MEAN	9.6	9.6	12.0	11.9	14.8	14.2
<u>SD</u>	2.7	2.0	3.6	2.4	2.6	1.6
<u>SE</u>	0.3	0.2	0.4	0.2	0.3	0.2
S06 (Tetra)	7.0	11.0	13.0	14.5	17.5	17.0
S07 (Tetra)	7.0	12.5	12.0	14.0	16.0	16.0
S18 (Tetra)	6.0	9.5	11.0	12.0	13.0	13.0
S20 (Tetra)	8.0	9.0	11.0	12.0	13.0	15.0
S23 (Tetra)	9.0	9.0	11.0	11.0	12.5	12.5
Tetraplegia						
MEAN	7.4	10.2	11.6	12.7	14.4	14.7
<u>SD</u>	1.1	1.5	0.9	1.5	2.2	1.9
<u>SE</u>	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.2
Group Total						
MEAN	8.5	9.9	11.8	12.3	14.6	14.5
SD	2.3	1.7	2.5	1.9	2.3	1.7
SE	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1
<u>SIT</u>						
S02 (Para)	8.0	9.0	12.0	9.0	16.0	13.5
S03 (Para)	10.0	10.0	13.0	13.0	14.5	14.5

S10 (Para)	13.5	13.0	15.5	13.0	15.0	16.0
S12 (Para)	12.0	11.0	12.0	13.0	15.0	15.0
S14 (Para)	12.5	12.5	13.5	13.5	14.0	14.0
S16 (Para)	8.0	9.0	9.0	11.5	13.0	15.5
Paraplegia						
MEAN	10.7	10.8	12.5	12.2	14.6	14.8
<u>SD</u>	2.4	1.7	2.1	1.7	1.0	0.9
<u>SE</u>	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1
S04 (Tetra)	11.0	11.0	15.0	11.0	16.5	13.5
S13 (Tetra)	11.0	13.0	13.5	12.5	17.0	15.0
S19 (Tetra)	10.0	11.0	11.5	11.5	14.0	15.0
S21 (Tetra)	10.5	11.0	13.0	13.5	16.0	17.0
Tetraplegia						
MEAN	10.6	11.5	13.3	12.1	15.9	15.1
<u>SD</u>	0.5	1.0	1.4	1.1	1.3	1.4
<u>SE</u>	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.2
Group						
Total						
MEAN	10.7	11.1	12.8	12.2	15.1	14.9
<u>SD</u>	1.8	1.5	1.8	1.4	1.3	1.1
SE	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1

	Workload	Workload	Workload	Workload	Workload	Workloa
<u>MICT</u>	I_Week 1	I_Week 5	II_Week 1	II_Week 5	III_Week 1	III_Week
S01 (Para)	6.6	23.5	13.7	47.4	15.6	48.8
S05 (Para)	18.6	30.2	39.5	50.6	55.3	69.1
S11 (Para)	12.2	13.8	23.5	19.0	25.3	23.3
S15 (Para)	12.9	43.3	26.3	54.5	45.0	62.7
S17 (Para)	14.3	24.7	19.6	30.7	27.1	35.6
Paraplegia						
MEAN	12.9	27.1	24.5	40.4	33.7	47.9
<u>SD</u>	4.3	10.8	9.6	15.0	16.1	18.9
<u>SE</u>	1.9	4.8	4.3	6.7	7.2	8.4
S06 (Tetra)	15.7	26.9	31.6	33.9	39.0	39.7
S07 (Tetra)	13.7	47.4	27.9	49.4	36.1	62.8
S18 (Tetra)	1.9	9.7	4.9	14.1	9.0	22.4
S20 (Tetra)	11.9	26.7	19.2	30.0	22.1	31.6
S23 (Tetra)	7.0	28.6	14.1	43.6	21.6	50.8
Tetraplegia						
MEAN	10.8	27.7	20.9	31.9	26.6	39.1
<u>SD</u>	6.1	15.4	11.9	14.5	13.8	17.3
<u>SE</u>	2.7	6.9	5.3	6.5	6.2	7.7
Group						
Total						
MEAN	11.5	27.5	22.0	37.3	29.6	44.7
<u>SD</u>	4.9	11.5	10.0	13.9	14.1	16.8
<u>SE</u>	1.6	3.6	3.1	4.4	4.5	5.3
SIT						
S02 (Para)	14.5	27.9	36.5	41.5	43.9	63.6
S03 (Para)	3.0	13.1	7.0	25.9	14.1	39.7

Discontinuous Sub-Maximal Exercise Test (Power Output [Watts]):

S10 (Para)	38.0	53.2	53.9	69.8	70.6	87.4
S12 (Para)	18.1	30.9	31.4	41.2	42.6	53.4
S14 (Para)	22.4	34.3	37.8	41.8	49.1	49.4
S16 (Para)	21.3	27.5	35.8	48.7	50.8	53.0
Paraplegia						
MEAN	19.6	31.2	33.7	44.8	45.2	57.8
<u>SD</u>	11.4	13.0	15.2	14.4	18.3	16.4
<u>SE</u>	4.7	5.3	6.2	5.9	7.5	6.7
S04 (Tetra)	7.2	16.0	13.8	30.8	20.6	45.6
S13 (Tetra)	1.2	4.0	3.4	7.9	6.0	11.9
S19 (Tetra)	2.3	5.5	5.8	10.4	12.0	16.9
S21 (Tetra)	2.9	14.7	7.2	21.2	13.2	28.3
Tetraplegia						
MEAN	3.4	10.1	7.6	17.6	13.0	25.7
<u>SD</u>	2.6	6.2	4.5	10.5	6.0	15.0
<u>SE</u>	1.3	3.1	2.2	5.3	3.0	7.5
Group						
Total						
<u>MEAN</u>	13.1	22.7	23.3	33.9	32.3	44.9
<u>SD</u>	12.0	15.0	17.8	18.7	21.8	22.3
SE	3.9	5.0	5.8	6.0	7.0	7.4

Discontinuous Sub-Maximal Exercise Test (Heart Rate):

	Workload	Workload	Workload	Workload	Workload	Workloa
MICT	I_Week 1	I_Week 5	II_Week 1	II_Week 5	III_Week 1	III_Week
S01 (Para)	137.5	113.5	144.5	137.5	150.0	155.0
S05 (Para)	114.0	122.5	138.0	133.0	165.5	168.0
S11 (Para)	116.0	105.0	128.0	107.5	127.0	106.0
S15 (Para)	84.5	100.5	92.0	106.0	106.0	108.0
S17 (Para)	116.5	112.0	133.5	121.5	139.0	129.5
Paraplegia						
MEAN	113.7	110.7	127.2	121.1	137.5	133.3
<u>SD</u>	18.9	8.4	20.6	14.4	22.6	27.7
<u>SE</u>	8.5	3.8	9.2	6.4	10.1	12.4
S06 (Tetra)	78.5	81.5	91.0	95.0	114.5	103.0
S07 (Tetra)	122.5	144.5	134.0	140.5	145.0	151.0
S18 (Tetra)	96.0	96.0	102.0	102.0	105.0	114.0
S20 (Tetra)	120.5	115.5	127.5	124.0	131.0	129.0
S23 (Tetra)	62.5	73.0	63.5	82.0	68.0	86.0
Tetraplegia						
MEAN	104.4	109.4	113.6	108.7	112.7	116.6
<u>SD</u>	21.0	27.2	20.5	23.4	29.3	24.8
<u>SE</u>	9.4	12.2	9.1	10.5	13.1	11.1
Group						
I OTAI MEAN	104.0	107 4	115 4	114.0	125 1	125.0
<u>NIEAN</u>	104.9	100.4	115.4	114.9	125.1	125.0
<u>SD</u> SE	23.4	20.4	20.0	19.4	27.9	20.3
<u>SE</u>	/.4	0.5	0.4	0.1	0.0	8.3
<u>SIT</u>		- 1 0		-		
S02 (Para)	78.5	71.0	84.5	76.0	92.5	86.5
S03 (Para)	81.0	98.5	84.0	111.0	86.5	127.5

S10 (Para)	90.0	102.0	100.0	106.0	108.0	122.0
S12 (Para)	103.5	107.0	109.5	109.5	130.5	118.0
S14 (Para)	114.0	122.5	135.0	138.5	167.0	148.0
S16 (Para)	107.0	87.5	115.0	97.5	131.0	111.5
Paraplegia						
MEAN	95.7	98.1	104.7	106.4	119.3	118.9
<u>SD</u>	14.6	17.5	19.5	20.3	29.9	20.2
<u>SE</u>	6.0	7.2	8.0	8.3	12.2	8.2
S04 (Tetra)	96.0	74.0	112.5	91.5	123.0	98.5
S13 (Tetra)	84.0	82.5	85.0	87.0	84.0	93.0
S19 (Tetra)	114.0	108.0	120.0	120.0	126.0	126.0
S21 (Tetra)	103.0	101.0	105.0	117.0	116.0	126.0
Tetraplegia						
MEAN	99.3	91.4	105.6	103.9	112.3	110.9
<u>SD</u>	12.6	15.8	15.1	17.0	19.3	17.6
<u>SE</u>	6.3	7.9	7.5	8.5	9.6	8.8
Group Total						
MEAN	97.1	95.4	105.1	105.4	116.5	115.7
<u>SD</u>	13.2	16.3	17.0	18.1	25.2	18.6
SE	4.2	5.2	5.4	5.7	8.0	5.9

Exercise Satisfaction (PACES):

MICT	PACES
S01	90.0
S05	95.0
S06	68.0
S07	99.0
S11	111.0
S15	86.0
S17	98.0
S18	107.0
S20	126.0
S23	118.0
<u>MEAN</u>	99.8
<u>SD</u>	16.7
<u>SE</u>	5.3
<u>SIT</u>	PACES
<u>SIT</u> S02	PACES 122.0
<u>SIT</u> S02 S03	PACES 122.0 116.0
<u>SIT</u> S02 S03 S04	PACES 122.0 116.0 92.0
<u>SIT</u> S02 S03 S04 S10	PACES 122.0 116.0 92.0 111.0
<u>SIT</u> S02 S03 S04 S10 S12	PACES 122.0 116.0 92.0 111.0 98.0
<u>SIT</u> S02 S03 S04 S10 S12 S13	PACES 122.0 116.0 92.0 111.0 98.0 116.0
<u>SIT</u> S02 S03 S04 S10 S12 S13 S14	PACES 122.0 116.0 92.0 111.0 98.0 116.0 102.0
<u>SIT</u> S02 S03 S04 S10 S12 S13 S14 S16	PACES 122.0 116.0 92.0 111.0 98.0 116.0 102.0 79.0
SIT S02 S03 S04 S10 S12 S13 S14 S16 S19	PACES 122.0 116.0 92.0 111.0 98.0 116.0 102.0 79.0 109.0
SIT S02 S03 S04 S10 S12 S13 S14 S16 S19 S21	PACES 122.0 116.0 92.0 111.0 98.0 116.0 102.0 79.0 109.0 120.0
<u>SIT</u> S02 S03 S04 S10 S12 S13 S14 S16 S19 S21 <u>MEAN</u>	PACES 122.0 116.0 92.0 111.0 98.0 116.0 102.0 79.0 109.0 120.0 106.5
<u>SIT</u> S02 S03 S04 S10 S12 S13 S14 S16 S19 S21 <u>MEAN</u> <u>SD</u>	PACES 122.0 116.0 92.0 111.0 98.0 116.0 102.0 79.0 109.0 120.0 106.5 13.7

Exercise for Self-Efficacy (ESES):

MICT	ESES Wk 1	ESES Wk 5
S01	31.0	31.0
S05	40.0	40.0
S06	32.0	28.0
S07	37.0	37.0
S11	38.0	36.0
S15	33.0	25.0
S17	38.0	38.0
S18	36.0	36.0
S20	37.0	38.0
S23	40.0	38.0
MEAN	36.2	34.7
<u>SD</u>	3.2	5.0
<u>SE</u>	1.0	1.6
<u>SIT</u>	ESES Wk 1	ESES Wk 5
S02	35.0	35.0
S03	38.0	37.0
S04	37.0	39.0
S10	40.0	38.0
S12	33.0	32.0
S13	36.0	38.0
S14	29.0	38.0
S16	39.0	23.0
S19		
	37.0	37.0
S21	37.0 37.0	37.0 33.0
S21	37.0 37.0	37.0 33.0
S21 <u>MEAN</u>	37.0 37.0 36.1	37.0 33.0 35.0
S21 <u>MEAN</u> <u>SD</u>	37.0 37.0 36.1 3.2	37.0 33.0 35.0 4.8

Perceived Pain:

MICT	Pain_Throughout Day	Pain_Armbike specific
S01	4.0	4.0
S05	12.0	5.0
S06	15.0	13.0
S07	3.0	5.0
S11	7.0	3.0
S15	15.0	13.0
S17	18.0	7.0
S18	12.0	11.0
S20	4.0	3.0
S23	4.0	6.0
MEAN	9.4	7.0
<u>SD</u>	5.6	3.9
<u>SE</u>	1.8	1.2
SIT	Pain Throughout Day	Pain Armbike specific
<u>SIT</u> S02	Pain_Throughout Day 9.0	Pain_Armbike specific 3.0
<u>SIT</u> S02 S03	Pain_Throughout Day 9.0 18.0	Pain_Armbike specific 3.0 3.0
<u>SIT</u> S02 S03 S04	Pain_Throughout Day 9.0 18.0 8.0	Pain_Armbike specific 3.0 3.0 10.0
<u>SIT</u> S02 S03 S04 S10	Pain_Throughout Day 9.0 18.0 8.0 6.0	Pain_Armbike specific 3.0 3.0 10.0 6.0
<u>SIT</u> S02 S03 S04 S10 S12	Pain_Throughout Day 9.0 18.0 8.0 6.0 7.0	Pain_Armbike specific 3.0 3.0 10.0 6.0 7.0
<u>SIT</u> S02 S03 S04 S10 S12 S13	Pain_Throughout Day 9.0 18.0 8.0 6.0 7.0 7.0 7.0	Pain_Armbike specific 3.0 3.0 10.0 6.0 7.0 7.0 7.0
<u>SIT</u> S02 S03 S04 S10 S12 S13 S14	Pain_Throughout Day 9.0 18.0 8.0 6.0 7.0 7.0 6.0	Pain_Armbike specific 3.0 3.0 10.0 6.0 7.0 7.0 5.0
<u>SIT</u> S02 S03 S04 S10 S12 S13 S14 S16	Pain_Throughout Day 9.0 18.0 8.0 6.0 7.0 7.0 6.0 13.0	Pain_Armbike specific 3.0 3.0 10.0 6.0 7.0 7.0 5.0 13.0
<u>SIT</u> S02 S03 S04 S10 S12 S13 S14 S16 S19	Pain_Throughout Day 9.0 18.0 8.0 6.0 7.0 7.0 6.0 13.0 17.0	Pain_Armbike specific 3.0 3.0 10.0 6.0 7.0 7.0 5.0 13.0 6.0
<u>SIT</u> S02 S03 S04 S10 S12 S13 S14 S16 S19 S21	Pain_Throughout Day 9.0 18.0 8.0 6.0 7.0 7.0 6.0 13.0 17.0 9.0	Pain_Armbike specific 3.0 3.0 10.0 6.0 7.0 7.0 5.0 13.0 6.0 9.0
SIT S02 S03 S04 S10 S12 S13 S14 S16 S19 S21 MEAN	Pain_Throughout Day 9.0 18.0 8.0 6.0 7.0 7.0 6.0 13.0 17.0 9.0 10.0	Pain_Armbike specific 3.0 3.0 10.0 6.0 7.0 7.0 5.0 13.0 6.0 9.0 6.9
SIT S02 S03 S04 S10 S12 S13 S14 S16 S19 S21 MEAN SD	Pain_Throughout Day 9.0 18.0 8.0 6.0 7.0 7.0 6.0 13.0 17.0 9.0 10.0 4.4	Pain_Armbike specific 3.0 3.0 10.0 6.0 7.0 5.0 13.0 6.0 9.0 6.9 3.1
